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Westmoreland Coal Company Vision

We seek to become a prominent and diversified energy company dedicated

to meeting America’s dual goals of low-cost power and a clean environment.

The initial focus of our strategic plan is on the acquisition of existing 

profitable businesses in the energy sector. The acquisition of profitable

businesses should allow the Company to use its $200 million in tax loss

carryforwards to shield the earnings of such entities from federal income

tax, resulting in significantly higher rates of return to Westmoreland. The

increased earnings and cash flow can then be used to offset the Company’s

substantial retiree health benefit liabilities, to meet obligations to preferred

shareholders, and to reinvest in further growth and development. Our

focus is niche business operations in energy where we can expect to mini-

mize exposure to price competition, maximize stability of long-term cash

flows, and gain synergistic opportunities for the management of existing

operating assets and the development of new projects.



Fiscal Year 2000(1)

(in thousands, except as noted)

Coal Tons Sold:

Absaloka Mine, Montana 4.91 million

Revenues:
Coal $35,137
Independent Power

(equity in earnings) 32,260
Dominion Terminal Associates

(equity in earnings) (1,800)

$65,597

Operating Income(2): $ 433

Net Income(2): $ 308

(1) One-time events that occurred during 1999 prevent meaningful summary comparison with 2000.
(2) Includes a $4.6 million writedown associated with the sale of the Virginia Projects which closed in 2001.
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he year 2000 was one of historic importance to

our Company. Since our last annual report the Company

has begun the implementation of our carefully devel-

oped strategic plan which should give Westmoreland

the critical mass required to assure long-term viability 

and the foundation upon which to build shareholder

value. I believe that the accomplishments of the past

year constitute not only what one industry trade 

journal called “the rebirth of Westmoreland” as one 

of America’s major coal producers, but also reflect 

our Company’s efforts to become a prominent and

diversified energy company.

Our Strategy

As described in last year’s Letter to Shareholders, the

initial phase of the Company’s strategic plan to address

America’s dual goals of low-cost power and a clean 

environment has focused on the acquisition of existing

profitable businesses in the energy sector. The acquisition

of profitable businesses should allow the Company to

use its $200 million in tax loss carryforwards to shield

the earnings of such entities from federal income 

tax, resulting in significantly higher rates of return to

Westmoreland. The increased earnings and cash flow

can then be used to offset the Company’s substantial

retiree health benefit liabilities, to meet obligations 

to preferred shareholders, and to reinvest in further

growth and development. Our focus has been on niche

business operations where we can expect to minimize

exposure to price competition, maximize stability of

long-term cash flows, and gain synergistic opportunities

for the management of existing operating assets, or for

the development of new projects.

The Acquis i t ions

The acquisitions of the Montana Power and 

Knife River coal businesses, which we announced on

September 18 and 28, 2000, respectively, represent

major steps towards achievement of our goals. 

As I write, in early April, 2001, we are in the process

of negotiating the financing package and obtaining 

the final consents needed to complete these purchases. 

T

Shareholders

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

2000 was  a“
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It is my expectation that these transactions will be 

completed by the time this report reaches you.

The operations being acquired, combined with the

Absaloka Mine, should produce between 25 and 30

million tons of coal per year, which would be more

than the Company has ever produced before. Both the

Montana Power and Knife River operations primarily

supply mine mouth power generating stations, which

are among the cleanest burning and lowest cost sources

of coal-fired electricity in their regions. Free of the high

transportation costs associated with non-mine mouth

coal operations, secured with long-term contracts and

ample recoverable reserves, and staffed with experienced

management and work forces, these mines should 

provide significant, long-term, dependable sources of

cash flow to Westmoreland.

These acquisitions also fit well with the Company’s

existing operations and core businesses. Westmoreland 

Resources’ Absaloka Mine is only 20 miles from

Montana Power’s Rosebud operation and should 

be able to share in various potential operational 

synergies along with the other Northern Tier mines 

we are acquiring.

Westmoreland’s substantial footprint in this northern

region should also offer meaningful opportunities for

new development. Already, as a consequence of certain

mine development rights we will obtain in the Knife

River acquisition, we have announced our interest in

building a new 500MW, lignite-fired power plant in

North Dakota at the site of the idled Gascoyne Mine.

Other  Accomplishments

Successful implementation of our strategic plan 

for growth could not have succeeded without the 

accomplishment of certain other critical tasks by our 

existing businesses. First and foremost, Westmoreland

Energy’s successful assertion of our rights under the

Roanoke Valley (“ROVA”) I power supply agreement

contributed vital cash towards the funding of our 

coal mine acquisitions. Settlement of this dispute with

Dominion Virginia Power included a cash payment 

of $15 million to Westmoreland, the negotiation of a

new agreement for ROVA I which should produce 

his tor i c  year  for  Wes tmore land.”
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$1-2 million of additional annual income at that 

facility and the sale of our three Virginia co-generation

projects for approximately $25 million, which closed

on March 23, 2001. Due to the long depreciation 

lives employed at the projects, the carrying value of

the Virginia Projects exceeded the sales price, which

necessitated a writedown in their book value as of

December 31, 2000 (thereby eliminating most of the

Company’s profit for the year). However, the price 

we received for the sale of the Virginia Projects was

significantly greater than our share of the projected

discounted cash flows under the existing power supply

contracts for the facilities and the contract settlement

represented 100% of our claim.

By renegotiating its agreement with Northern States

Power (now Xcel Energy) to increase tons delivered to

this coal customer and by increasing sales to Western

Fuels Association, Westmoreland Resources replaced a

majority of the tons lost in sales with the expiration of

the contract for Otter Tail Power’s Big Stone station,

which elected to purchase lower sulfur coal for at least

the time being.

The Company also continued to operate with a very

lean complement of people and rigorous management 

of general and administrative costs. We are fortunate to

have a very dedicated and capable group of employees.

Unfinished Business

Some issues we had hoped to resolve in 2000 

remain open. Dominion Terminal Associates (“DTA”)

continues to have a negative impact on earnings and

cash flow, but since we own only a minority interest 

in the facility, it has been difficult to effectively address

this situation by ourselves. The recent announcement

by Pittston that it now intends to sell its coal assets

individually, including its share of DTA, rather than 

as a whole, may facilitate our ability to consummate 

a strategic move at DTA, since together, our interests

represent a majority of the Terminal ownership.

We remain dissatisfied with the performance of

Washington Group International as contract operator

at the Absaloka Mine. We believe their cost is not 

competitive and are frustrated by their failure to honor

what we believe is a clear contractual obligation to

pay for major repairs and parts replacement for the

tub on the dragline. We have sought business solutions

to these issues with the Washington Group, but are

now involved in litigation to resolve the dragline 

dispute. Recent announcements by the Washington

Group reporting a serious near term liquidity problem

are of additional concern.

We had hoped to settle the 1974 Pension Plan 

withdrawal matter as well in 2000, but as of the date

of this letter we have been unable to reach a reason-

able compromise. Arbitration is now set for June.

Outside counsel believes our case is strong.

Development: (l–r) seated–R. Stone, D. Jones, R. Jaeger; 
standing–C. Seglem, T. Durham, T. Myers
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Completion of the Bullitt Impoundment sale in

Virginia remains unresolved. Applications to transfer

the site have been filed by the expected purchaser 

and are currently being reviewed by the State. Issues

surrounding permit bonding may delay or ultimately

prevent the transfer, however, which could result in 

our having to commence final reclamation on this site,

the last from our former Virginia Operations.

Finally, we were disappointed at the inability of

Congress to pass, in the past year, a prescription drug

program that would cover our retirees and could

reduce in some degree the large expense we face for

such services. While substantial monies for a prototype

prescription drug demonstration project were recently

awarded to the Combined Benefit Fund by the Health

Care Financing Administration (a Federal agency), we

do not yet know if, to what extent, or for how long,

that program might benefit the Company. In any event,

we are hopeful that the political pundits are correct in

predicting that Congress will adopt some form of pre-

scription drug benefits for all Medicare eligible retirees.

Our Team

A number of changes to the board of directors were

made during the past year. At the request of Bob Killen

and Jim Sight, who had served admirably as preferred

directors through Westmoreland’s darkest hours, the

Board appointed two new preferred directors in 2000

when it became evident that a large proportion of 

preferred shareholders believed they would be better

served by directors with a greater personal stake in

that class of stock. Hence, we welcomed Michael

Armstrong and William Stern onto the Board. Both

joined us with backgrounds in financial services and

with significant preferred share ownership interests 

in the Company. We are likewise pleased that Messrs.

Killen and Sight agreed to stay on the Board so we 

will continue to benefit from their experience and

knowledge of the Company.

Also joining us as a director in 2000 was 

Thomas Coffey, Vice President-Finance, Global

Network Services, a division of Unisys Corporation,

and a former KPMG partner. Tom replaced long-time

Board member, Edwin Tuttle, and very ably assumed

his post as Chairman of the Audit Committee.

On the management side, we welcomed Mike

Lepchitz from Charlottesville, Virginia as Vice

President, Law and Administration, and General

Counsel of the Company. Mike most recently served as

Coal Operations: (l–r) seated–D. Simpson, T. Durham, R. Cope;
standing–C. Embry, J. O’Laughlin; not pictured–G. Miller

Corporate Legal, Finance and Administration: (l–r) seated–
P. Durham, R. Jaeger, M. Lepchitz; standing–D. Jones, T. Barta



President of Westmoreland Energy, Inc. (and continues

to do so). He joined Westmoreland originally as an

Assistant General Counsel at Westmoreland’s Virginia

Division and after five years was appointed General

Counsel of Westmoreland Energy, Inc. Mike became

President of Westmoreland Energy, Inc. in 1998.

Mike’s breadth of experience within the Company

makes him an outstanding fit for his new position.

New to the Company in 2000 were three gentlemen

hired for their ability to contribute to the implementation

of our strategic growth plan, and then easily transition

to ongoing post-acquisition management positions.

Todd Myers, an environment and energy market expert

and former Westmoreland employee, joined us from

Boulder-based Resource Data International, one of 

the country’s leading energy consulting firms, where 

he managed a coal and environment practice. Tom

Durham, an experienced surface mining operations

manager and engineer, joined us from NorWest Mine

Services, Inc., an internationally recognized mining

advisory firm, where he had led both productivity

enhancement and acquisition due diligence efforts, 

particularly in the Western United States, on behalf 

of numerous clients for the past four years. Finally,

Dick Stone joined us from Calpine Corporation where

he had most recently been a full-time consultant 

applying his particular expertise in independent power

development. Dick is also a graduate engineer with

senior management and development experience 

at CogenAmerica and Wheelabrator Technologies.

These gentlemen along with Paul Durham, Bob

Jaeger and Diane Jones have provided both the 

leadership and staff for our in-house acquisition and

development team. This group of highly talented 

people can provide necessary skills, management and

leadership as our Company moves forward.

At the same time, one of the most attractive aspects

of our targeted acquisitions is the quality of the 

management and workforce we will gain with these

businesses. We will be able to retain the heads of all

the operations we are acquiring except at Knife River’s

Beulah Mine, including Bob Cope, Carroll Embry, 

Jim Kelly and Garry “Bink” Miller. We feel these are

among the best coal operations people in the West.

And for the Beulah Mine, we have been able to hire

John O’Laughlin, a former mining executive for

Morrison Knudsen, whom we know well and believe

will provide excellent operations leadership and man-

agement within the Westmoreland framework. In

short, we believe we have assembled a particularly

capable and experienced operations management

group which will assure safe, highly productive, well-

managed operations at both current and future sites.

Finally, I would be remiss if I did not mention the

outstanding team of experts and consultants that have

supported Westmoreland over the past year. While 

individuals are too numerous to list, let me simply

Sales and Marketing: (l–r) E. Demeter, J. Kelly, T. Myers
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name the companies: NorWest Mine Services, Inc.;

Hale and Dorr LLP; Rothschild Inc.; PNC Capital

Markets, Inc.; Rose, Smith, Tucker, LLC; Resource

Data International; Hill & Associates; Behre Dolbear;

Sidley & Austin; KPMG LLP; Bodington & Associates;

Arent Fox; Williams, Mullen, Christian & Dobbins;

and Nixon Peabody.

The Future

Our first task is to successfully steward the Knife

River and Montana Power operations into a cohesive,

integrated, and focused organization. But we must not

lose sight of the new opportunities in front of us such

as the possibility of a Lignite Vision 21 (“LV-21”)

power project at Gascoyne. We are fortunate to be in

the energy business at this time in history and should

do everything we can to capitalize on the demand 

for coal and electrical power. The recent, dramatic

increase in coal prices should eventually benefit the

Absaloka, Rosebud and Jewett operations. The demand

for new power should increase the possibility of 

development at the Gascoyne reserves in energy-friendly

North Dakota and elsewhere.

At the same time, we will be alert to existing and

emerging opportunities for other fuels, technologies

and roles in the energy business. Thoughtful diversifica-

tion and innovation is an important element of our

strategy and must be nurtured if we are to assure our

place as a provider of energy resources and the potential

continued appreciation of your Company’s share

value. Thus, for example, we will continue to evaluate 

opportunities related to coalbed methane and tradi-

tional natural gas production and use, as well as other

energy-related ventures.

We have enjoyed a significant increase in the value

of our stock in the past year by correctly analyzing,

accurately designing, and successfully implementing

the initial phase of a strategic plan for growth and

development in this sector. We believe our current

strategy provides a blueprint for continued expansion.

We pledge to do our very best to make Westmoreland

a leading energy provider for the twenty-first century

as it has been for the two centuries past.

Thank you for your continued interest and support.

Sincerely,

Christopher K. Seglem

April, 2001Power: (l–r) G. Woods, R. Stone, M. Lepchitz
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wo thousand was an exciting year for the energy

industry. As issues associated with deregulation came

to the forefront, the entire country turned its attention

to energy needs and the associated potential economic

and environmental impacts on the country’s economy

and the lives of ordinary citizens. At the beginning 

of the year, perhaps reflecting growing international

concerns over the implications of global warming, most

hailed the development of new gas-fired generation as

the panacea for America’s energy future. By year-end,

domestic power shortages and soaring natural gas 

and electricity prices reaffirmed the importance of

coal-fired power generation. Approximately 54% of

all U.S. electrical power generation today is fueled by

coal. Coal is abundant, less volatile in pricing than

natural gas or oil, and has consistently maintained a

substantial cost advantage on a cents per million BTU

basis. New and existing clean coal technologies can

help assure that the country’s dual goals of affordable

energy and a clean environment are met.

The Company’s core businesses, Westmoreland

Resources, Inc. (“WRI”) and Westmoreland Energy,

Inc. (“WEI”), provide a solid footing in both the coal

and independent power sectors.

Westmoreland Energy,  Inc .

WEI was formed in 1986 to develop, own and 

manage independent electric power production facilities.

Within ten years, WEI, using a partnership strategy,

brought eight projects to commercial operation, 

altogether capable of producing over 867MW (WEI’s

share being 232MW) of power, with a total investment

for the projects of more than $888 million. All of these

facilities, six coal and two gas-fired, have maintained 

a high standard of operating performance and regulatory

and environmental compliance.

Capitalizing on the opportunity to harvest an 

attractive value for one of its projects, Westmoreland

sold its interest in the 81MW gas-fired Rensselaer

facility in a two staged transaction over 1998 and

1999 for $68 million (total of contract buy out and

asset sale) leaving a 4.49% interest in the 290MW 

Ft. Lupton, Colorado facility as the sole gas-fired 

project in our portfolio (pictured on page 11).

In 2000, WEI also negotiated the sale of its 30%

interest in three 70MW stoker coal-fired Virginia

Projects (Altavista, Hopewell and Southampton) to

Virginia Power for approximately $25 million. This

again represents an attractive value for these assets

when compared to discounted future cash flows 

under existing contracts with Virginia Power. Closing

occurred on March 23, 2001.

T

O p t i m i z i n g

Assets

impor tance of  coal- f i red e lec t r ic  power generat ion.”impor tance of  coal- f i red e lec t r ic  power generat ion.”
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The Roanoke Valley (“ROVA”) I project, a 180MW

coal-fired plant in Weldon, NC, began operation in 1994

and supplies baseload power to Virginia Power under

a long-term power supply agreement that will expire 

in 2019. ROVA II, a 50MW sister project located at 

the same site, began operation in 1995. The two-unit

ROVA facility performed well again in 2000 with

capacity factors of 90% for ROVA I and 84% for

ROVA II. They have averaged 88% and 89% respec-

tively over the last five years. To sustain these high

capacity factors and enhance performance, neural 

network systems were installed at both ROVA units 

in 2000. These systems enhance boiler performance 

by improving combustion and reducing CO (carbon

monoxide), and NOx (nitrogen oxide) emissions.

Westmoreland Resources ,  Inc .

Westmoreland Resources, Inc. (“WRI”) owns 

and manages the Absaloka Mine located 30 miles

northeast of Hardin, Montana at the northern end 

of the Powder River Basin coal region. Absaloka is a

15,000 acre surface mine with over 612 million tons

of coal under long-term lease from the Crow Indian

Tribe. Washington Group International (“WGI”) owns

a 20% interest in WRI and also serves as the contract

operator. WGI operates the mine with 63 employees

represented by the International Union of Operating

Engineers (“IUOE”) and 11 non-union employees. 

It uses one dragline (owned by WRI) equipped with 

a 125 cubic yard bucket which, in a single day, can

remove 75,000 cubic yards of overburden soil and

uncover 25,000 tons of coal. Coal is processed and

stored on-site awaiting rail shipment via a 38-mile 

rail spur to the main line of the Burlington Northern

Santa Fe Railroad near Hysham, Montana.

WRI was expressly developed to supply coal to 

Xcel Energy’s (formerly Northern States Power) Sherco

Station and over the years has sold coal to several

other Upper Midwest utilities. From a sales low of 

1.8 million tons in 1987, WRI has rebuilt its customer

base over the past several years, reaching an all time

sales high of 7.1 million tons in 1997. In 2000, WRI

sold over 4.9 million tons notwithstanding the loss 

in late 1999 of sales to Otter Tail Power due to that

company’s requirement for a lower sulfur coal at their

Big Stone power plant. In late 1999, WRI revised its

contract with Xcel, which along with additional sales

to Western Fuels Association in 2000, resulted in sales

to these two customers of almost a million tons more

in 2000 than in 1999, partially offsetting the loss of

sales to Otter Tail. WRI also renewed its contract with

Midwest Energy Resources, which supplies coal to

Consumers Energy’s Cobb plant, for another five

years. Midwest purchased over 400,000 tons from

WRI in 2000.

Absaloka is in an excellent position to retain or 

capture additional market share if WGI meets its 

obligation to produce coal at a competitive cost.

Westmoreland Terminal Company

Westmoreland Terminal Company owns a 20%

stake in Dominion Terminal Associates, which owns

10



We have been ac t i ve  in  the  deve lopment ,  ownersh ip
and management  o f  independen t  power

genera t ing fac i l i t i e s  fue led by  coa l  and 
na tura l  gas  s ince  1986.”

“

W
es

tm
o

re
la

n
d

 C
o

al
 C

o
m

p
an

y
an

n
u

al
 r

ep
o

rt
 2

0
0

0

11



12

and operates a coal export facility in Newport News,

Virginia capable of handling approximately 20 million

tons of coal per year. Other owners of the facility include

subsidiaries of Arch Coal, Peabody Holding Company,

Inc. and the Pittston Company. Westmoreland has

managed this asset as a throughput facility for 

third-party coal shipped on the CSX railroad since

Westmoreland’s Eastern Operations were curtailed 

in the mid-1990’s. Given the continued decline in 

the export market for U.S. coal, alternatives for this

non-core export facility are under consideration.

Pursuant to its strategic plan for growth,

Westmoreland has sought to add significant new 

coal operations in niche markets which capitalize 

on the Company’s advantageous tax position and 

complement WRI.

Westmoreland Mining LLC

In 2000, Westmoreland successfully negotiated the

purchase of the coal businesses of Montana Power

Company and Knife River Corporation, subject to

financing and regulatory approvals, among other things.

As of the writing of this report, in early April, 2001,

Westmoreland is in the process of completing the

financing package and obtaining the final consents

needed for these acquisitions. By the time this report is 

read, it is hoped that announcements have been made

that closing of these transactions is complete.

These businesses are comprised primarily of mines

serving contiguous, low-cost, environmentally compliant

power plants. Each of these mining operations 

enjoys a history of sustained profitability. To facilitate 

financing, these new coal operations will be held by 

a new Westmoreland subsidiary called Westmoreland

Mining LLC.

The Rosebud Mine, which is being acquired from

Montana Power, is a 25,000 acre surface operation

located in the Powder River Basin near Colstrip,

Montana, approximately 100 miles east of Billings,

Montana and twenty miles from WRI’s Absaloka

mine. Rosebud is one of the largest coal mines in the

U.S. and supplies almost all of its current production

to the adjacent four-unit 2,200MW Colstrip Power

Station. The Colstrip units were specifically designed

to burn Rosebud coal and are equipped with sulfur

emission scrubbers, allowing them to operate in full

compliance with all currently applicable state and fed-

eral emission regulations. Rosebud delivers approxi-

mately ten million tons of coal per year to these units

under two contracts which expire in 2009 and 2019.

As one of the most cost-efficient power plants in its

region, Colstrip should maintain its baseload position

on the dispatch curve, helping to assure continued

strong demand for the Rosebud coal.

S e c u r i n g

Niche Markets
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The Jewett Mine, which is also being acquired 

from Montana Power, is a 35,000 acre surface mine

located 100 miles south of Dallas and 150 miles 

northwest of Houston. It supplies lignite under a 

full-requirements contract to the adjacent two-unit

1,600MW Limestone Station owned by Reliant Energy.

Limestone is a low-cost, baseload power plant designed

specifically to burn lignite from Jewett. Lignite, one 

of several varieties of coal used for power generation,

is typically lighter in color, higher in moisture and ash

content, and lower in heating value than other coals.

Since much of the generation in the power market that

Limestone serves is natural gas-fired, coal plants in the

region are the lowest cost sources of electricity. Jewett

produces approximately eight million tons of lignite

per year pursuant to a contract which expires in 2015.

The contract between Jewett and Limestone is the

largest long-term U.S. utility coal contract by annual

tonnage with a 15-year or greater remaining life.

The Beulah Mine, which is being acquired from

Knife River Corporation, was developed in 1963 

and became the mine mouth supplier to the 427MW

Coyote Plant when it was built in 1981. Beulah is a

9,000 acre surface mine located 55 miles northwest 

of Bismarck, North Dakota. In addition to Coyote,

Beulah supplies the two-unit 75MW Heskett Station

located 74 miles away. In total, Beulah produces

approximately three million tons of lignite per year.

Coyote, a low-cost, baseload generation facility within

its power market, is contractually obligated to purchase

all of its coal from the Beulah Mine through 2016.

With rising power demand and prices, the Heskett

Station, owned by MDU Resources, has also been

operating as a baseload generating facility. Heskett 

is contractually obligated to purchase coal from

Beulah through 2005, with an option for Beulah 

to extend to 2010.

The Savage Mine, which is also being acquired 

from Knife River, is a smaller but strategically placed

surface mine located on the Montana-North Dakota

border that enjoys a full-requirements contract with

the 69MW Lewis & Clark Station owned by MDU

Resources and a longstanding annual supply relation-

ship with a sugarbeet refinery near Sidney, Montana.

Savage produces approximately 315,000 tons of 

lignite per year.

Another facet of Westmoreland’s strategic plan for

growth involves establishing a footprint for develop-

ment of new opportunities, especially coal mines and

independent power plants.

Westmoreland Power,  Inc .

Reserve margins, a measure of supply vs. demand

for electric power generation, continue to decline to

unacceptable levels across the country. Existing base-

load power facilities are being called on to operate at

record high capacity factors, and with concerns about

A c h i e v i n g  S u s t a i n a b l e

Growth 



the availability and cost of natural gas for new power

generation plants, coal-fired projects are again under

serious consideration in some areas. Westmoreland

Power, Inc. was formed in early 2001 to pursue new

power development opportunities.

One such opportunity is the possible development 

of a new 500MW lignite power plant in North Dakota

in conjunction with a state and industry jointly 

sponsored project called Lignite Vision 21 (“LV-21”). 

Westmoreland’s purchase of Knife River’s coal 

business includes certain coal reserve development

rights to the inactive Gascoyne Mine in southwestern

North Dakota. We believe this is an attractive site 

for the proposed new LV-21 project. We have filed 

an application with the North Dakota Industrial

Commission to pursue the project and receive 

matching funds from the State of up to $10 million 

to begin the necessary feasibility studies.

*Contingent upon closing of acquisitions.
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While the historical performance of existing and

acquired operations does not guarantee future results,

the table above sets forth average information regarding

the mining operations over the past six years. This

table is provided solely to give the reader a sense of

the scale of these acquisitions.

Cautionary Statement: The information provided in this table is unaudited and presented for information only. Information in the table is in part based
on information provided to the Company by Montana Power Company and Knife River Corporation. The Company makes no representations or warranty
about the accuracy or completeness of the information provided. The Company is required to file with the SEC certain audited financial information for the
businesses acquired, including certain unaudited pro forma financial information, approximately seventy-five days following completion of the acquisitions.
At the time of this publication, the Company is in the process of completing the acquisitions, but they are not final.

*Contingent upon closing of acquisitions.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

Forward-Looking Disclaimer

Certain statements in this report which are not historical facts
or information are “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, includ-
ing, but not limited to, the information set forth in Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations. Any statements contained herein that
are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be
forward-looking statements. For example, words such as
“may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,”
“continue,” “strategy,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,”
“expects,” “intends,” and similar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking
statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and other factors which may cause the actual results, levels of
activity, performance or achievements of the Company, or
industry results, to be materially different from any future
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.
Such factors include, among others, the following: general
economic and business conditions; the ability of the Company
to implement its business strategy; the Company’s access to
financing; the Company’s ability to successfully identify new
business opportunities; the Company’s ability to achieve
anticipated cost savings and profitability targets; changes in
the industry; competition; the Company’s ability to utilize its
tax net operating losses; the ability to reinvest excess cash at
an acceptable rate of return; weather conditions; the avail-
ability of transportation; price of alternative fuels; costs of
coal produced by other countries; demand for electricity; the
effect of regulatory and legal proceedings, the announced 
liquidity issues for Washington Group International and other
factors discussed in Item 1 and Item 7 of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2000. As a result of the foregoing and other factors, no assur-
ance can be given as to the future results and achievement of
the Company. Neither the Company nor any other person
assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of
these statements.

Bankruptcy Proceeding

Westmoreland Coal Company and four subsidiaries,
Westmoreland Resources, Inc. (“WRI”), Westmoreland Coal
Sales Company, Westmoreland Energy, Inc. (“WEI”), and
Westmoreland Terminal Company (“the Debtor Corpo-
rations”), filed voluntary petitions for protection under
Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code on December 23, 1996.
On December 23, 1998, the Bankruptcy Court granted the

Debtors’ Motion to Dismiss the cases. The automatic stay
period pursuant to the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Proce-
dure expired on January 4, 1999.

Continued financial improvement of the Debtors during the
bankruptcy provided the basis for dismissal and settlement
with the UMWA Health and Benefit Funds (the “Funds”), the
Company’s principal creditors. On October 15, 1998, the
Company, the Funds, the United Mine Workers of America
(“UMWA”) and the Official Committee of Equity Security
Holders (“Equity Committee”) reached agreement on terms
of a settlement, which provided for, among other things, the
resolution of the Chapter 11 cases. The agreement, which
facilitated a consensual dismissal of the bankruptcy cases,
was announced during scheduled hearings on Westmoreland’s
Motion to Dismiss and the Equity Committee’s Motion to
Convert to Chapter 7, and the hearings were subsequently
recessed. The agreement was subsequently documented in
certain consent judgments and in a Master Agreement among
the Company, the Funds, the UMWA, and the Equity
Committee. The Debtor Corporations filed motions request-
ing approval of the consent judgments on November 18,
1998. There were no allowable objections and dismissal of
the Chapter 11 cases occurred on December 23, 1998. The
Master Agreement was executed on January 29, 1999.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash provided by operating activities was $3,059,000 in
2000. Cash used in operating activities was $23,489,000 in
1999. Cash provided by operating activities was $55,894,000
in 1998. The change in cash provided by operations in 2000
compared to 1999 is mainly due to the receipt in 2000 of one-
time cash distributions from the overfunded pneumoconiosis
trust and workers’ compensation bond compared to the addi-
tional payment of cumulative pre-petition liabilities, one-time
reorganization costs and alternative minimum income taxes
offset by the proceeds received on the sale of Rensselaer. The
decrease in cash provided by operations in 1999 compared to
1998 is mainly a result of cash received from the Rensselaer
restructuring at WEI and the termination of the salaried pen-
sion plan in 1998, as well as the payment of pre-petition lia-
bilities, and reorganization costs in 1999.

Cash used in investing activities was $5,333,000, $11,491,000
and $2,434,000 in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Cash
used in investing activities in 2000 included funding of collat-
eral for security deposits of $5,220,000 and fixed asset addi-
tions of $647,000 (including $621,000 at WRI) offset by a
partial reimbursement from the mine operator of $530,000.
Cash used in investing activities in 1999 included funding 
collateral required for security deposits and bond obligations
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of $10,148,000 and fixed asset additions of $2,069,000
(including $2,599,000 at WRI) offset by proceeds from sales
of assets of $726,000. Cash used in investing in 1998
included fixed asset additions of $2,945,000 (including
$2,335,000 at WRI) offset by proceeds from sales of assets 
of $511,000.

Cash used in financing activities in 2000, 1999 and 1998
totaled $3,655,000, $28,971,000, and $51,000, respectively.
Cash used in 2000 was primarily for repayment of WRI’s
long-term debt as well as the payments of dividends to minor-
ity shareholders of WRI. Cash used in 1999 was primarily 
for the purchase of preferred stock and the payments of 
dividends to minority shareholders of WRI. Cash used in
1998 related to the repayment of debt of WRI.

Consolidated cash and cash equivalents at December 31,
2000 totaled $14,193,000 (including $2,406,000 at WRI). At
December 31, 1999, cash and cash equivalents totaled
$20,122,000 (including $12,159,000 at WRI.) The cash at
WRI, an 80%-owned subsidiary, is available to the Company
through dividends. In addition, the Company had restricted
cash, which was not classified as cash or cash equivalents, of
$19,217,000 at December 31, 2000 and $14,896,000 at
December 31, 1999. The restricted cash at December 31,
2000 represents interest-bearing cash deposit accounts which
collateralize the Company’s Contingent Note ($6,000,000)
required by the Master Agreement and the surety bond for
the security required by the 1992 UMWA Benefit Plan
($9,368,000), as well as $3,849,000 that collateralizes the
outstanding surety bonds for its workers’ compensation self-
insurance programs. The restricted cash at December 31,
1999 represents collateral for the Company’s Contingent
Note ($6,000,000) required by the Master Agreement and the
surety bond for the 1992 UMWA Benefit Plan ($4,148,000),
as well as $4,748,000 for its workers’ compensation self-
insurance programs. The Company also has $8,000,000 in
debt reserve accounts for certain of the Company’s independ-
ent power projects. This cash is restricted as to its use and is
classified as part of the investment in independent power
projects. In addition, there was a surplus in the Company’s
black lung trust at December 31, 1999. The Company
received $6,397,000 of the surplus in February 2000. The
surplus received was used to pay post-retirement health bene-
fits. Refer to Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information.

Preferred stock dividends at a rate of 8.5% per annum were
paid quarterly from the third quarter of 1992 through the
first quarter of 1994. The declaration and payment of pre-
ferred stock dividends was suspended in the second quarter of

1994 in connection with extension agreements with the
Company’s principal lenders. Upon the expiration of these
extension agreements, the Company paid a quarterly divi-
dend on April 1, 1995 and July 1, 1995. Pursuant to the
requirements of Delaware law, described below, the preferred
stock dividend was suspended in the third quarter of 1995 
as a result of recognition of losses and the subsequent share-
holders’ deficit. The quarterly dividends which are accu-
mulated but unpaid through and including January 1, 
2001 amount to $11,088,000 in the aggregate ($53.13 per
preferred share or $13.28 per depositary share). Common
stock dividends may not be declared until the preferred stock
dividends that are accumulated but unpaid are made current.

On March 10, 1999, the Company offered to purchase up to
1,052,631 depositary shares, each representing one quarter of
a share of its Series A Convertible Exchangeable Preferred
Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock”). The offer price of $19 per
share was in full satisfaction of claims to accumulated but
unpaid dividends on the depositary shares tendered. On April
7, 1999, the offer expired and 1,683,903 depositary shares
were tendered in response to the offer. Because the number of
shares tendered exceeded the maximum number of shares the
Company had offered to purchase, a proration factor of
approximately 62.5% was applied to all shares tendered. A
total of 1,052,631 depositary shares were purchased for
$20,000,000. The balance sheet effect of this transaction was
to reduce cash and shareholders’ equity by $20,000,000.
Following completion of the tender offer, the depositary
shares purchased in the offer were converted into shares of
Series A Preferred Stock, the shares of Series A Preferred
Stock were retired, and the capital of the Company was
reduced by the par value of the shares of Series A Preferred
Stock retired. This reduced the number of shares of Series A
Preferred Stock outstanding from 575,000 to 311,843, accu-
mulated but unpaid dividends from $21,994,000 to
$11,928,000, and the ongoing quarterly preferred dividend
requirement from $1,222,000 to $663,000.

On September 16, 1999, the Company made a second offer
to purchase up to an additional 631,000 depositary shares at
$19 per depositary share. The offer price of $19 per share
was in full satisfaction of claims to accumulated but unpaid
dividends on the depositary shares tendered. On October 26,
1999, the offer expired and 412,536 depositary shares were
tendered in response to the offer. The balance sheet effect of
the transaction was to reduce cash and shareholders’ equity
by $7,838,000. Following completion of the tender offer, the
depositary shares purchased in the offer were converted to
shares of Series A Preferred Stock, the shares of Series A
Preferred Stock were retired, and the capital of the Company
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was reduced by the par value of the shares of Series A
Preferred Stock retired. This reduced the number of shares 
of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding from 311,843 to
208,708, accumulated but unpaid dividends from $13,253,000
to $8,870,000 and the ongoing quarterly dividend require-
ment from $663,000 to $444,000.

There are statutory restrictions limiting the payment of pre-
ferred stock dividends under Delaware law, the state in which
the Company is incorporated. Under Delaware law, the
Company is permitted to pay preferred stock dividends only:
(1) out of surplus, surplus being the amount of shareholders’
equity in excess of the par value of the Company’s two classes
of stock; or (2) in the event there is no surplus, out of net
profits for the fiscal year in which a preferred stock dividend
is declared (and/or out of net profits from the preceding fiscal
year), but only to the extent that shareholders’ equity exceeds
the par value of the preferred stock (which par value was
$208,708 at December 31, 2000). The Company had share-
holders’ equity at December 31, 2000 of $3,373,000 and 
the par value of all outstanding shares of preferred stock 
and shares of common stock aggregated $17,883,000 at
December 31, 2000.

Going forward the Company’s Board of Directors will review
the payment of quarterly preferred stock dividends, the pre-
ferred stock dividends which are in arrears, and common
stock dividends, in light of the above restrictions and consid-
eration of the shareholders’ best interests.

Liquidity Outlook

The major factors impacting the Company’s liquidity outlook
are its significant “heritage health benefit costs” and its on-
going and future business needs. The heritage health benefit
costs consist primarily of cash payments for post-retirement
medical benefits and workers’ compensation benefits. The
Company also is obligated for salaried employee pension and
pneumoconiosis benefits; however, both of these future obli-
gations have a funding surplus at present. The Company 
currently expects to expend in excess of $16,000,000 per year
for post-retirement medical benefits, which the Company
believes will remain fairly constant over the next four years
and then decline to zero over the next approximately 35
years. In addition, the Company expects to expend approxi-
mately $3,000,000 per year for workers’ compensation bene-
fits, which will steadily decline to zero over the next
approximately 18 years.

One element of heritage health benefit costs is UMWA pen-
sions under the 1974 (Retirement) Plan. Since this plan is a
multiemployer plan under ERISA, a contributing company is

liable for its share of unfunded vested liabilities upon termi-
nation or withdrawal from the plan. The Company believes
the Plan was fully funded at the time the Company termi-
nated its last UMWA employees in 1998 and withdrew from
the Plan. However, the Plan claims that the Company with-
drawal occurred at a different date, and when the Company
withdrew the Plan was not fully funded. The Plan has
asserted a claim of $13,800,000, which the Company is vig-
orously contesting through arbitration as provided under
ERISA. The arbitration proceeding was set to begin on
October 16, 2000; however, it has been continued until June
4, 2001. In accordance with the Multiemployer Pension Plan
Amendments Act of 1980, the Company has made monthly
principal and interest payments to the plan while it pursues
its rights and will continue to make such monthly payments
until arbitration is completed. Included in the payments made
in 2000 is interest of approximately $879,000. At the conclu-
sion of arbitration the Company may be entitled to a refund
or it could be required to pay any remaining obligation in
installments through 2008.

Under the Coal Industry Retiree Health Benefit Act of 1992
(“Coal Act”), the Company is required to provide post-
retirement medical benefits for UMWA miners by making
premium payments into three benefit plans: (i) the UMWA
Combined Benefit Fund (the “Combined Fund”), a multiem-
ployer plan which benefits miners who retired before January
1, 1976 or who retired thereafter but whose last employer did
not provide benefits pursuant to an operator-specific
Individual Employer Plan (“IEP”), (ii) an IEP for miners who
retired after January 1, 1976 and (iii) the 1992 UMWA
Benefit Plan, a multiemployer plan which benefits (A) miners
who were eligible to retire on February 1, 1993, who did
retire on or before September 30, 1994 and whose former
employers are no longer in business, (B) miners receiving 
benefits under an IEP whose former employer goes out of
business and ceases to maintain the IEP, and (C) new spouses
or new dependents of retirees in the Combined Fund who
would be eligible for coverage thereunder but for the fact that
the Combined Fund closed to new beneficiaries as of July 20,
1992. The premiums paid by the Company cover its own
retirees and its allocated portion of the pool of retired miners
whose previous employers have gone out of business.

On January 4, 1999, in connection with its dismissal from
bankruptcy, the Company satisfied all of its premium obliga-
tions to the Combined Fund from the date of filing in
December, 1996 through the end of 1998 plus interest, and
made prepayments to the Combined Fund for its premiums
for the first three quarters of 1999. Normal monthly pay-
ments resumed in October 1999. Beginning on that date,
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however, the Company also began receiving credits against 
its Combined Fund premiums at a rate of approximately
$200,000 per month through April, 2000, for a total of
$1,400,000 as a result of a recalculation of premiums by the
Combined Fund pursuant to an order of the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of Alabama entered July 20,
1995 in National Coal Association v. Chater. In October
2000, the Company received notification that its normal
monthly premiums would decline approximately $80,000 per
month for the next twelve months due to a reduction in the
Combined Fund’s costs.

The Combined Benefit Fund, faced with an impending 
solvency crisis because benefit expenses are exceeding premi-
ums from contributing companies, again sought additional
funding relief from Congress in 2000. On January 27, 2000
the Clinton Administration announced it would include
$346,000,000 in its current budget proposal for the UMWA
Combined Benefit Fund to secure the long-term solvency of
the Combined Fund. Under the sponsorship of Senators Byrd
and Rockefeller of West Virginia, the House and Senate con-
ference committee subsequently approved in 2000, as a part
of the Interior and Related Agencies appropriations bill, 
a transfer of $94,000,000 of accumulated interest in the
Abandoned Mine Land Reclamation Fund (“AML”) to the
Combined Fund. As a part of its report, the conference 
committee noted that this was a short-term solution and
urged that the Congressional committees with jurisdiction
over the matter work with the concerned parties to insure the
long-term solvency of the Combined Fund. The conference
committee went on to admonish the parties not to ask for
additional funding from AML in the future.

The Coal Act authorized the Trustees of the 1992 UMWA
Benefit Plan to implement security provisions for the future
payment of benefits pursuant to the Act. The Trustees set the
level of security for each company at an amount equal to
three years’ benefits. In Westmoreland’s case this obligation
was stayed during the pendency of the bankruptcy. The
Company secured its obligation to provide retiree health 
benefits under the 1992 Plan by posting a bond in the amount
of $22 million in 1999 which was increased to $23 million in
2000. The Company’s bonding agent required collateral equal
to 40% of the bonded amount. The bond is collateralized 
by U.S. Government-backed securities in the amount of
$9,368,000 at December 31, 2000. The bond amount and the
amount to be secured are to be reviewed and adjusted on an
annual basis.

Over the course of 2000, varying versions of a Medicare pre-
scription drug benefit have also generated a great deal of

interest by both political parties, their candidates and in the
press around the country. While health care generally remains
one of the most discussed matters of public policy, politicians
have begun to focus increasingly on the specific concern of
meeting the pharmaceutical needs of the United States’
Medicare-eligible population. Congress included $40 billion
over five years in its FY 2001 budget to fund some form of
prescription drug benefit. Several bills were introduced in
both the House and Senate during the last session of
Congress. The House passed a prescription drug benefit;
however, no prescription drug legislation made it out of the
Senate before adjournment. In the recently completed
Presidential election, both major parties had platform planks 
that promised some form of prescription drug legislation. On
January 29, 2001, President Bush’s prescription drug plan for
low income seniors was introduced in Congress. The plan is
titled the “Immediate Helping Hand” and proposes providing
block grants to the states to decide on an individual state by
state basis how to help offset the constantly escalating cost of
prescription medicine. It is expected that other versions of a
prescription drug benefit will be introduced in this session of
Congress. Among the most likely alternatives to President
Bush’s proposal will be either an amendment to existing
Medicare statutes that specifically adds a federally mandated
prescription drug benefit or a comprehensive rewrite of
Medicare and inclusion of a prescription drug benefit.

A Medicare prescription drug benefit that covers Medicare
eligible beneficiaries covered by the Coal Act could address
one of the Company’s largest costs. Westmoreland currently
expends over $16 million per year on retirees’ health care
costs and over 50% of that expense is for prescription drugs.
There is no assurance at this time what, if any, proposal will
be enacted into law or what effect, if any, that it may have on
the Company’s obligation.

The Company is closely monitoring energy deregulation 
and other industry trends. At both the national and state
level, there is an ongoing debate about removing regulatory
constraints and allowing competition and market forces to
determine the price of electricity. Several states have already
passed legislation either permitting immediate wholesale
and/or retail competition or providing a mechanism for tran-
sitioning to a competitive marketplace. The Commonwealth
of Virginia has passed legislation which allows wholesale
competition to begin in 2004 and retail competition to begin
in 2007. At this time, the promulgation of state legislation 
is not expected to have any immediate impact on existing
long-term power purchase agreements. Several proposed bills,
calling for deregulation of the traditional utility monopolies,
are pending in the U.S. Congress. When, or if, some form of
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national deregulation legislation will be enacted is uncertain.
The Company is unable to predict the effect of deregulation
on WEI or WRI.

In addition to deregulation, current industry trends include
increased demand for new generating capacity, the need for
stabilizing fuel and electricity costs, and pressure to reduce
harmful emissions into the environment. The Company’s
experience in developing new generating capacity and current
coal production capability may enable the Company to take
advantage of these trends. However, there is no assurance
that the Company will be able to successfully capitalize on, 
or that any profitable opportunities will arise, as a result of
these trends.

The Company’s principal current sources of cash flow from
operations include cash distributions from its independent
power projects, dividends from WRI and interest earned 
on cash reserves. Management believes that available cash
should be sufficient to pay the Company’s heritage health
benefit costs and fund its ongoing operations for the foresee-
able future. In addition, the Company is engaged in two
acquisitions, the coal businesses of Montana Power and Knife
River, that, if consummated, the Company anticipates should
enhance operating earnings and cash flow. The Company
expects to finance these acquisitions from various sources
including lender financing and the proceeds from the settle-
ment of the ROVA forced outage day issue, the sale of the
Virginia projects and sales of existing non-strategic assets
and/or asset refinancing.

Sources of possible additional liquidity include the possible
reimbursement of amounts paid to the 1974 UMWA Pension
Plan, the sale of non-strategic assets, remaining overfunded
amounts from the black lung trust and the salaried pension
plan, ongoing increased project earnings from a revised 
and mutually beneficial Power Purchase and Operating
Agreement (“PPOA”) for ROVA following the renegotiation
of the PPOA, a recovery from Washington Group Interna-
tional for dragline repairs and the effect of any future legisla-
tion that causes Medicare to cover the cost of prescription
drug benefits for the Company’s retirees.

The Company agreed to secure its obligations to the UMWA
Funds under the Master Agreement for a period of six years
by providing a Contingent Promissory Note (“Note”). The
original principal amount of the Note is $12 million; the prin-
cipal amount of the Note decreases to $6 million in 2002 and
terminates in 2005. The Note is payable only in the event the
Company does not meet its Coal Act obligations, fails to meet
certain ongoing financial tests specified in the Note, or fails to
maintain the required balance of $6 million in an escrow

account established in connection with the Note. If the cash
flows from the ROVA project exceed $8 million per year after
2001, then the $6 million held in escrow will be returned to
the Company at the beginning of 2002.

Capital expenditures in 1998, 1999 and 2000 included
approximately $4,100,000 to repair the dragline at WRI. All
of these expenditures substantially increased the productive
life of the dragline and therefore, were capitalized. The
Company believes, under the terms of WRI’s agreements 
with Washington Group International, formerly known as
Morrison Knudsen, that Washington Group International is
responsible for all dragline repairs. WRI has expended these
amounts to assure continued, uninterrupted production at
WRI, and has demanded reimbursement from Washington
Group International for the full cost of the repair. Washington
Group International has reimbursed WRI for approximately
$530,000 of these costs. On March 7, 2000, WRI com-
menced litigation against Washington Group International in
the United States District Court for the District of Montana 
seeking, among other things, payment by Washington Group
International of approximately $3.6 million of dragline repair
costs paid or expected to be paid by WRI, plus accrued inter-
est. The Company has not recorded any amounts that may be
recoverable from Washington Group International in its
financial statements. On March 2, 2001, Washington Group
International announced that it was facing a severe near-term
liquidity problem due to a delay in resolving purchase price
adjustments in connection with an acquisition. The Company
cannot currently determine what impact, if any, this problem
may have on its operations or this litigation.

Dividends and Growth

Preferred stock dividends at a rate of 8.5% per annum were
paid quarterly from the third quarter of 1992 through the
first quarter of 1994. The declaration and payment of pre-
ferred stock dividends was suspended in the second quarter 
of 1994 in connection with extension agreements with the
Company’s principal lenders. Upon the expiration of these
extension agreements, the Company paid a quarterly 
dividend on April 1, 1995 and July 1, 1995. Pursuant to
Delaware law, the preferred stock dividend was suspended in
the third quarter of 1995 as a result of the recognition of
losses related to the idling of the Virginia division and the
subsequent shareholders’ deficit. Quarterly dividends which
are accumulated but unpaid through and including January 1,
2001 amount to $11,088,000 in the aggregate ($53.13 per
preferred share or $13.28 per depositary share). Common
stock dividends may not be declared until the preferred stock
dividends that are accumulated but unpaid are made current.
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There are statutory restrictions limiting the payment of pre-
ferred stock dividends under Delaware law, the state in which
the Company is incorporated. Under Delaware law, the
Company is permitted to pay preferred stock dividends only:
(1) out of surplus, surplus being the amount of shareholders’
equity in excess of the par value of the Company’s two classes
of stock; or (2) in the event there is no surplus, out of net
profits for the fiscal year in which a preferred stock dividend
is declared (and/or out of net profits from the preceding fiscal
year), but only to the extent that shareholders’ equity exceeds
the par value of the preferred stock (which par value was
$208,708 at December 31, 2000). The Company conducted
two tender offers for its Preferred Stock in 1999; the
Company’s purchases of preferred stock from preferred 
stockholders in 1999 pursuant to these two offers reduced
shareholders’ equity by $27,800,000. The Company had
shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2000 of $3,373,000
and the par value of all outstanding shares of preferred stock
and shares of common stock aggregated $17,883,000 at
December 31, 2000.

In light of the impact on the Company of post-retirement
health benefit costs under the Coal Act and constraints upon
the payment of dividends imposed by Delaware law and the
restrictive covenants of the Master Agreement, management
believes that the execution of a growth strategy is vital to the
Company’s ability to pay accumulated dividends on the
Preferred Stock and to the Company’s ability to resume and
sustain dividend payments in the future.

Following the dismissal of its bankruptcy case, the Company
undertook an extensive review, analysis and development of
its strategic plan for growth. Among the issues the Company
considered in the course of its strategic planning were:

• The market for energy in the United States, including fore-
casts under various economic assumptions about levels of
demand for different sources of power, forecasts about 
levels of supply for different sources of power, and forecasts
as to cost and price data.

• The continuing impact of deregulation on the energy market.

• The continuing impact of laws and regulations designed to
protect the environment on the supply of and demand 
for power produced from different sources, and the oppor-
tunities that presently exist and that may arise to balance
the country’s desire for affordable energy and a clean 
environment.

• The business opportunities that presently exist and that the
Company believes will arise in the energy sector.

• The availability of over $200 million of net operating loss
carryforwards (“NOLs”), to shield the Company’s future
profits from federal income taxation and thereby increase
the return the Company receives from profitable invest-
ments (as compared with the return a tax paying entity 
that cannot shield its income from federal income tax
would receive).

• Alternatives to optimize the value of the Company’s assets,
including sales of assets, if the price is favorable to the
Company, recognizing that the Company’s asset base 
delivers tax-shielded cash flow to the Company and are
burdened by the Coal Act, both of which make these 
assets more valuable to the Company than to potential tax-
paying buyers.

• Potential sources of additional cash that might become
available to the Company, including the possible reimburse-
ment of the Company’s expenditures to repair the dragline
at Westmoreland Resources, Inc. and the other potential
sources described in the “Liquidity Outlook” section of
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.

• The financial effect of possible legislative developments,
such as a prescription drug program, that could substan-
tially reduce the Company’s obligations under the Coal Act
since over 50% of the Company’s post-retirement medical
costs are for retiree prescription drug benefits.

• The importance of properly prioritizing and sequencing the
Company’s efforts, given the fact that the Company does
not currently have sufficient cash to meet all of its different
strategic business objectives, including the tax-advantaged
expansion of the Company through acquisitions, and the
ability to pay accumulated and future stock dividends.

The Company’s strategic plan focuses on expanding the
Company’s existing core operations and acquiring profitable
businesses in the energy sector where America’s dual goals of
low cost power and a clean environment can be effectively
addressed. The Company is seeking to do this in niche mar-
kets that will minimize exposure to competition, maximize
stability of long-term cash flows and provide opportunities
for synergistic operation of existing assets and new opportu-
nities in the energy sector.

The availability of the Company’s net operating loss carry-
forwards, (“NOLs”), which the Company hopes to fully 
utilize through its growth strategy, is governed by Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (“Code”). The 
Code limits the utilization of a corporation’s NOLs if an
“ownership change” within the meaning of the Code (an 
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“Ownership Change”) occurs with respect to that corpora-
tion. In general, an Ownership Change occurs if, among other
things, “5-percent shareholders” within the meaning of the
Code (“5-Percent Shareholders”) increase their percentage
ownership of the corporation’s stock by more than 50 per-
centage points over any three-year period. A 5-Percent
Shareholder is any person who owns 5 percent or more of the
value of the corporation’s stock, and the value of the corpo-
ration’s stock is the sum of the market values of all of the 
corporation’s outstanding shares. The Company continues 
to monitor the ongoing status of ownership changes by 
5-Percent Shareholders and cautions its current shareholders
and potential investors that the creation of new 5-Percent
Shareholders or trading by existing 5-Percent Shareholders
could negatively impact the calculation of the Ownership
Change. The Company believes that, based on public infor-
mation currently on file, there has not been an Ownership
Change, but that the percentage of change is approximately
40% as of December 31, 2000. If the percentage of change
begins to approach the 50% limitation, then the Company
may ask shareholders for their assistance in minimizing 
the change. If the change exceeds the 50% limitation, the
Company may be unable to use a portion of its NOLs.

The Company is actively pursuing opportunities in coal, oil
and gas, and power production. In June 2000, the Company
entered into negotiations on an exclusive basis for the pur-
chase of Knife River Corporations’ coal operations. Knife
River Corporation is a subsidiary of MDU Resources Group,
Inc. On September 28, 2000, the Company announced that it
had agreed to acquire Knife River Corporation’s coal opera-
tions for $28.8 million in cash, excluding final settlement cost
adjustments, and other consideration. The Knife River
Corporation’s operations produced approximately 3 million
tons of coal in 1999. Closing of the transaction is expected to
occur following regulatory approval and receipt of financing,
among other conditions, and is subject to board approval.
Closing is expected by April 30, 2001. On September 15,
2000, the Company announced that it had agreed to acquire
Montana Power Company’s coal business unit for $138 mil-
lion in cash. The Montana Power Company’s coal operations
produced approximately 20 million tons of coal in 1999.
Closing is expected to occur following regulatory approval
and receipt of financing, among other conditions. Closing 
is expected by April 30, 2001. The Company retained
Rothschild Inc. and NM Rothschild & Sons LLC as financial
advisor in support of these opportunities.

Although management expects to improve the Company’s
profitability, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity within a
reasonable period of time, such improvements cannot be
guaranteed.

Going forward, the Company’s Board of Directors will con-
sider payments of preferred stock dividends on a quarterly
basis, in light of the above described legal restrictions and the
progress on implementing its growth strategy.

Results of Operations 2000 Compared to 1999

Coal Operations. Coal revenues in 2000 were $35,137,000
compared to $38,539,000 in 1999. The reduction in revenues
is due to a decrease in tons sold in 2000 compared to 1999
that resulted from the expiration of the Company’s contract
with Otter Tail Power. In 1999, the Company shipped
1,496,000 tons to Otter Tail. Partially offsetting the decrease
in shipments to Otter Tail Power, the Company’s remaining
customers purchased approximately 940,000 more tons 
in 2000 than in 1999. Prices received were comparable in 
the two periods. Costs remained consistent as a percentage 
of revenues.

Independent Power Operations. Equity in earnings of independ-
ent power operations in 2000 was $32,260,000 compared to
$34,492,000 in 1999. The change is composed of an increase
in earnings due to the $14,900,000 settlement of the ROVA
litigation offset by the impact of the sale of the Rensselaer
project in 1999. In 2000, in anticipation of the sale of the
Virginia Projects in 2001, the Company recognized a
$4,632,000 impairment charge relating to those investments.

Dominion Terminal Associates. Share of losses from Dominion
Terminal Associates (“DTA”) was $1,800,000 in 2000 com-
pared to $1,464,000 in 1999. The increase is due to a
decrease in throughput as a result of a continued decline in
export coal sales from the U.S. DTA is dependent upon its
customers’ coal export business to maintain an acceptable
level of throughput. The coal export business has experienced
a significant decline due to intense competitive pressure from
coal suppliers in other nations. At this time the Company
does not believe that those competitive pressures will abate in
the near term.

Selling and administrative expenses were $7,786,000 com-
pared to $9,660,000 in 1999. During 1999 approximately
$2,600,000 was paid to employees for bonuses. In 2000, the
Company adopted a long-term performance unit compensa-
tion plan tied to increases in the Company’s common stock
price which resulted in additional compensation expense of
$824,000. The Company also incurred development expenses
of $276,000 in 2000. The majority of other selling and
administrative expenses decreased in 2000 compared to 1999
due to management’s cost control measures.
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Heritage health benefit costs were $21,503,000 in 2000 com-
pared to $18,737,000 in 1999, reflecting increased costs for
the post-retirement medical plans, as well as an increase in
payments made to the Combined Benefit Fund.

Loss on dispositions of assets were $6,000 for 2000. Gain on
sales of assets were $433,000 for 1999 which related to sales
of assets from the idled Virginia Division.

Results of Operations 1999 Compared to 1998

Coal Operations. Coal revenues in 1999 were $38,539,000
compared to $44,010,000 in 1998. The reduction in revenues
is due to a decrease in tons sold in 1999 compared to 1998
that resulted from an eight-week scheduled maintenance out-
age at a major customer’s facility as well as mild weather.
Prices received were comparable in the two periods.

Independent Power Operations. Equity in earnings of independ-
ent power operations in 1999 was $34,492,000 compared 
to $64,465,000 in 1998. The decrease is mainly due to
decreased earnings at WEI’s Rensselaer project as a result of
the restructuring of its power purchase contract with Niagara
Mohawk in 1998 and the subsequent sale of the project in
early 1999.

Dominion Terminal Associates. Share of losses from Dominion
Terminal Associates was $1,464,000 in 1999 compared to
equity in earnings of $94,000 in 1998. The decrease is due to
a decrease in throughput as a result of a continued decline in
export coal sales from the U.S. In 1998, as a result of the
decline in the export market, the Company recognized a
$12,164,000 impairment charge relating to its investment 
in DTA. DTA is dependent upon its customers’ coal export
business to maintain an acceptable level of throughput. The
coal export business has experienced a significant decline due
to intense competitive pressure from coal suppliers in other
nations. At this time the Company does not believe that those
competitive pressures will abate in the near term. The fair
value assigned to DTA was based on a 1998 sale of a similar
nearby terminal.

Selling and administrative expenses were $9,660,000 in 1999
compared to $7,040,000 in 1998. The increase primarily
relates to 1999 bonus payments of approximately $2,600,000
and related employment taxes. Employee bonuses had not
been paid for the years 1996, 1997 or 1998 while the
Company restructured under protection of Chapter 11.

Heritage health benefit costs were $18,737,000 in 1999 com-
pared to $31,449,000 in 1998. The majority of the difference
relates to accruals made in 1998 for Combined Benefit Fund
charges for 1996 and 1997 which were stayed during the
bankruptcy proceedings. They were paid in January 1999
upon the Company’s dismissal from bankruptcy.

In 1998, the Company recorded an unusual charge of
$2,000,000 relating to the Master Agreement described in
Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Under that
Agreement, the Company agreed to make payments for
retiree health benefits as if it continued to be obligated under
the 1993 UMWA Wage Agreement for eligible retirees and
beneficiaries for a period of five years. At the expiration of
such five-year period, the Company is free to initiate litiga-
tion contesting its obligation to continue to provide such ben-
efits and the Company will continue to provide such benefits
after the expiration of the five-year period until it obtains a
ruling from a Court of competent jurisdiction that it is not
obligated to provide such benefits.

Gains on the sale of assets were $433,000 and $475,000 for
1999 and 1998, respectively, most of which related to the
sales of various equipment from the idled Virginia Division.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk
The Company is exposed to market risk, including the effects
of changes in commodity prices as discussed below.

Commodity Price Risk

The Company produces and sells coal to third parties from its
coal mine in Montana and produces and sells electricity and
steam to third parties from its independent power projects
located in Colorado and the eastern United States. Currently,
all of the Company’s coal production and all of its electricity
and steam production is sold through long-term contracts
with customers. These long-term contracts serve to minimize
the Company’s exposure to changes in commodity prices. The
Company generally has not entered into derivative contracts
to manage its exposure to changes in commodity prices, and
was not a party to any such contracts at December 31, 2000.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)
Years Ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Westmoreland Coal Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Westmoreland Coal Company and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December
31, 2000. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing stan-
dards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi-
cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Westmoreland Coal Company and subsidiaries at
December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of their opera-
tions and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, the Company changed its method of accounting for
start-up costs in 1998.

Denver, Colorado
February 23, 2001, except as to Notes 2 and 4, 

which are as of March 23, 2001
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2000  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1999

(in thousands)

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,193 $ 20,122
Receivables:

Trade 3,105 2,156
Excess of trust assets over pneumoconiosis benefit obligation — 6,397
Terminated pension plan, net — 500
Other 565 621

3,670 9,674
Other current assets 1,086 1,180

Total current assets 18,949 30,976

Property, plant and equipment:
Land and mineral rights 10,564 10,572
Plant and equipment 65,709 66,231

76,273 76,803
Less accumulated depreciation and depletion 41,580 40,245

34,693 36,558

Investment in independent power projects 49,419 45,225
Investment in Dominion Terminal Associates (DTA) 4,327 4,672
Workers’ compensation bond 3,849 4,748
Prepaid pension cost 4,118 3,897
Excess of trust assets over pneumoconiosis benefit obligation 6,807 5,255
Security deposits 15,368 10,148
Other assets 1,566 818

Total Assets $139,096 $142,297
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December 31, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2000  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1999

(in thousands)

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Current installments of long-term debt $ — $ 220
Accounts payable and accrued expenses:

Trade 1,987 2,010
Taxes, other than income taxes 3,170 3,932
Workers’ compensation 3,100 3,200
Post-retirement medical costs 10,500 10,130
1974 UMWA Pension Plan obligations 1,279 1,128
Reorganization expenses — 400
Other accrued expenses 370 970
Reclamation costs 100 100

Total current liabilities 20,506 22,090

Long-term debt, less current installments — 1,343
Accrual for workers’ compensation, less current portion 12,236 15,072
Accrual for post-retirement medical costs, less current portion 82,968 78,643
1974 UMWA Pension Plan obligations, less current portion 9,409 10,751
Accrual for reclamation costs, less current portion 2,309 2,537
Other liabilities 3,003 1,930

Minority interest 5,292 6,874

Commitments and contingent liabilities

Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock of $1.00 par value

Authorized 5,000,000 shares;
Issued and outstanding 208,708 shares 209 209

Common stock of $2.50 par value
Authorized 20,000,000 shares;
Issued and outstanding 7,069,663 shares in 2000 and 7,067,663 shares in 1999 17,674 17,669

Other paid-in capital 67,318 67,315
Accumulated deficit (81,828) (82,136)

Total shareholders’ equity 3,373 3,057

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $139,096 $142,297

See accompanying Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

(in thousands except per share data)

Revenues:
Coal $35,137 $38,539 $ 44,010
Independent power projects—equity in earnings 32,260 34,492 64,465
Dominion Terminal Associates (“DTA”)—equity in earnings (share of losses) (1,800) (1,464) 94

65,597 71,567 108,569

Cost and expenses:
Cost of sales—coal 30,250 33,637 37,472
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 1,972 1,571 2,289
Selling and administrative 7,786 9,660 7,040
Heritage health benefit costs 21,503 18,737 31,449
Pension expense (benefit) (585) (149) 111
Unusual charges — — 2,000
Doubtful accounts recoveries (400) (174) (1,028)
Impairment charges 4,632 — 12,164
Loss (gains) on sales of assets 6 (433) (475)

65,164 62,849 91,022

Operating income 433 8,718 17,547
Other income (expense):

Interest expense (911) (1,135) (190)
Interest income 1,866 2,052 —
Minority interest (518) (854) (775)
Other income (expense) (999) (226) 1,999

(562) (163) 1,034

Income (loss) from operations before reorganization items and income taxes (129) 8,555 18,581
Reorganization items:

Legal and consulting fees — — (9,872)
Interest expense — — (5,188)
Interest income — — 3,594

Income (loss) before income taxes (129) 8,555 7,115
Income tax (expense) benefit 437 82 (3,787)

Income from operations 308 8,637 3,328
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — — (9,876)

Net income (loss) 308 8,637 (6,548)
Less preferred stock dividend requirements 1,776 2,992 4,888

Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders $ (1,468) $ 5,645 $(11,436)

Income (loss) per share applicable to common shareholders—basic:
Continuing operations $ (.21) $ .80 $ (.22)
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles — — (1.42)

$ (.21) $ .80 $ (1.64)

Income (loss) per share applicable to common shareholders—diluted $ (.21) $ .79 $ (1.64)

Pro forma amounts assuming the changes in accounting principles are applied retroactively:
Net loss applicable to common shareholders $ (1,560)
Loss per share applicable to common shareholders $ (.22)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—basic 7,070 7,040 6,965
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—diluted 7,070 7,146 6,965

See accompanying Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Class A
Convertible

Exchangeable Other Total
Preferred Common Paid-In Accumulated Shareholders’

Years Ended December 31, 1998, 1999, and 2000 Stock Stock Capital Deficit Equity

(in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 1997
(575,000 preferred shares and 6,965,328 

common shares outstanding) $ 575 $17,413 $ 94,630 $(84,225) $ 28,393
Net loss — — — (6,548) (6,548)

Balance at December 31, 1998
(575,000 preferred shares and 6,965,328 

common shares outstanding) 575 17,413 94,630 (90,773) 21,845
Common stock issued as compensation (77,335 shares) — 193 104 — 297
Common stock options exercised (25,000 shares) — 63 53 — 116
Preferred stock repurchased and retired (366,292 shares) (366) — (27,472) — (27,838)
Net income — — — 8,637 8,637

Balance at December 31, 1999
(208,708 preferred shares and 7,067,663 

common shares outstanding) 209 17,669 67,315 (82,136) 3,057
Common stock options exercised (2,000 shares) — 5 3 — 8
Net income — — — 308 308

Balance at December 31, 2000
(208,708 preferred shares and 7,069,663 

common shares outstanding) $ 209 $17,674 $ 67,318 $(81,828) $ 3,373

See accompanying Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 308 $ 8,637 $ (6,548)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities:

Equity in earnings of independent power projects (32,260) (34,492) (64,465)
Cash distributions from independent power projects 23,434 51,653 46,355
Share of losses (equity in earnings) from Dominion Terminal Associates 1,800 1,464 (94)
Cash generated by Dominion Terminal Associates 168 942 2,952
Cash contributions to Dominion Terminal Associates (1,623) (1,603) (1,877)
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 1,972 1,571 2,289
Stock compensation expense — 297 —
Unusual charges (credits) — — 2,000
Impairment charges 4,632 — 12,164
Loss (gains) on sales of assets 6 (433) (475)
Cash from pension termination, net 500 — 12,540
Distributions from pneumoconiosis trust 6,397 — 2,634
Minority interest 518 854 775
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — — 9,876
Other (654) 147 (358)
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Receivables (893) 2,519 213
Workers’ compensation bond 899 (1,208) 2,525
Prepaid pension cost (221) (149) (220)
Excess of trust assets over pneumoconiosis benefit obligation (1,552) (761) (1,825)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (1,700) (4,337) 1,690
Income taxes payable 315 (2,185) 2,185
Accrual for workers’ compensation (2,936) (2,266) (3,203)
Accrual for post-retirement medical costs 4,695 4,564 (2,502)
1974 UMWA Pension Plan (1,191) (1,897) —
Consent judgment payment obligation — (39,006) 39,006
Other liabilities 845 (300) (5,998)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities before reorganization items 3,459 (15,989) 49,639

Changes in reorganization items—
reorganization expenses (400) (7,500) 6,255

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 3,059 $(23,489) $ 55,894
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Years Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

(in thousands)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property, plant and equipment $ (647) $ (2,069) $ (2,945)
Reimbursement from mine operator 530 — —
Net proceeds from sales of investments and assets 4 726 511
Security deposits (5,220) (10,148) —

Net cash used in investing activities (5,333) (11,491) (2,434)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of long-term debt (1,563) (199) (51)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders of subsidiary (2,100) (1,000) —
Exercise of stock options 8 66 —
Repurchase of preferred stock — (27,838) —

Net cash used in financing activities (3,655) (28,971) (51)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (5,929) (63,951) 53,409
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 20,122 84,073 30,664

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 14,193 $ 20,122 $84,073

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 1,000 $ 6,076 $ 27
Income taxes 2 1,606 120

In January 1999, the Company issued 45,000 shares of restricted stock valued at $297,000 to several employees as compensation.
See accompanying Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation Policy

The consolidated financial statements of Westmoreland Coal
Company (the “Company”) include the accounts of the
Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries, after elimination
of intercompany balances and transactions. The Company
uses the equity method of accounting for companies where
ownership is between 20% and 50% and for partnerships
and joint ventures in which less than a controlling interest 
is held.

Use of Estimates

Management of the Company has made a number of 
estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contin-
gent assets and liabilities in order to prepare these financial
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. Actual results will likely differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments
purchased with original maturities of three months or less to
be cash equivalents. All such instruments are carried at cost.
Cash equivalents consists of Eurodollar time deposits, money
market funds and bank repurchase agreements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost and include
expenditures for new facilities and those expenditures that
substantially increase the productive lives of existing plant
and equipment. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as
incurred. Mineral rights and development costs are depleted
based upon estimated recoverable proven and probable
reserves. Plant and equipment are depreciated straight-line
over the assets’ estimated useful lives, ranging from 3 to 40
years. The Company assesses the carrying value of its property,
plant and equipment for impairment by comparing estimated
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from such
assets with their net book value. If net book value exceeds
estimated cash flows, the asset is written down to fair value.
When an asset is retired or sold, its cost and related accumu-
lated depreciation and depletion are removed from the
accounts. The difference between the net book value of the
asset and proceeds on disposition is recorded as a gain or
loss. Fully depreciated plant and equipment still in use are not
eliminated from the accounts.

Workers’ Compensation and Pneumoconiosis 
Benefit Liabilities

The Company is self-insured for workers’ compensation claims
incurred prior to 1996 and federal and state pneumoconiosis
benefits for current and former employees. Workers’ compen-
sation claims incurred after January 1, 1996 are covered by 
a third party insurance provider.

The liability for workers’ compensation claims is an actuarially
determined estimate of the ultimate losses incurred on such
claims based on the Company’s experience, and includes 
a provision for incurred but not reported losses. Adjustments
to the probable ultimate liability are made continually based
on subsequent developments and experience and are included
in operations as incurred.

Post Retirement Benefits Other than Pensions

The Company accounts for health care and life insurance
benefits provided to certain retired employees and their
dependents by accruing the cost of such benefits over the
service lives of employees. The Company is amortizing its
transition obligation, for past service costs relating to these
benefits, over twenty years. For UMWA represented union
employees who retired prior to 1976, the Company provides
similar medical and life insurance benefits by making pay-
ments to a multiemployer union trust fund. The Company
expenses such payments when they become due.

Coal Revenues

The Company recognizes coal sales revenue at the time title
passes to the customer. The Company also records as revenue
amounts received from coal related activities, such as pro-
ceeds from coal contract buy-outs and coal option payments.

Reclamation

Reclamation costs at WRI are fixed and are being recognized
evenly over a 15-year period. Total expected reclamation
costs at idled sites were fully accrued at the time of idling.
Estimates at idle sites are periodically reviewed and adjust-
ments are made in accruals to provide for changes in expected
future costs.
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for deferred income taxes using the
asset and liability method. Deferred tax liabilities and assets
are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of
events that have been reflected in the Company’s financial
statements based on the difference between the financial state-
ment carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities,
using enacted tax rates in effect in the years in which the 
differences are expected to reverse.

Earning Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net
income (loss) available to common shareholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted earnings per share is determined
on the assumption that outstanding stock options have been
exercised using the average price for the period. For purposes
of computing earnings (loss) per share in a loss year, potential
common shares have been excluded from the computation of
weighted average common shares outstanding because their
effect is antidilutive.

Preferred stock convertible into 1,425,895 shares of common
stock in 2000 and 1999, and 3,928,400 shares of common
stock in 1998 were not included in the computation of
diluted income (loss) per share because the assumed conver-
sion has an antidilutive effect.

In 2000 and 1998, the Company reported a net loss available
to common shareholders and the assumed exercise of all 
outstanding options to purchase common stock was anti-
dilutive. For the year ended December 31, 1999, the assumed
exercise of stock options resulted in the inclusion of an 
additional 126,859 weighted average potential common
shares in the diluted earnings per share calculation, and a
$.01 decrease in earnings per share. For 1999, options to 
purchase 259,500 shares of common stock at $4.00–$20.00
per share were not included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share because the options’ exercise prices were
greater than the average market price of the common stock.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform
to the current year presentation.
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1. Nature of Operations

The Company’s principal activities, conducted within the
United States are: (i) the production and sale of coal; (ii) the
development, management and ownership of interests in
cogeneration and other non-regulated independent power
plants; and (iii) the leasing of capacity at Dominion Terminal
Associates, a coal storage and vessel loading facility.

Bankruptcy Proceeding

Westmoreland Coal Company and four subsidiaries,
Westmoreland Resources, Inc., Westmoreland Coal Sales
Company, Westmoreland Energy, Inc., and Westmoreland
Terminal Company (“the Debtor Corporations”), filed volun-
tary petitions for protection under Chapter 11 of the Bank-
ruptcy Code on December 23, 1996. On December 23, 1998,
the Bankruptcy Court granted the Debtors’ Motion to
Dismiss the cases. The automatic stay period pursuant to 
the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure expired on
January 4, 1999.

Continued financial improvement of the Debtors during the
bankruptcy provided the basis for dismissal and settlement
with the UMWA Health and Benefit Funds (“Funds”), the
Company’s principal creditors. On October 15, 1998, the
Company, the Funds, the United Mine Workers of America
(“UMWA”) and the Official Committee of Equity Security
Holders (“Equity Committee”) reached agreement on the
terms of a settlement, which provided for, among other
things, the resolution of the Chapter 11 cases. The agreement,
which facilitated a consensual dismissal of the bankruptcy
cases, was announced during scheduled hearings on
Westmoreland’s Motion to Dismiss and the Equity
Committee’s Motion to Convert to Chapter 7, and the 
hearings were subsequently recessed. The agreement was 
subsequently documented in certain consent judgments and 
in a Master Agreement among the Company, the Funds, the
UMWA, and the Equity Committee. The Debtor Corpora-
tions filed motions requesting approval of the consent judg-
ments on November 18, 1998. There were no allowable
objections and dismissal of the Chapter 11 Cases occurred on
December 23, 1998. The Master Agreement was executed on
January 29, 1999.

2. Dispositions

On March 23, 2001, the Company sold its interests in the
three Virginia independent power projects for aggregate net
proceeds of $25,000,000. The transaction is subject to a final
accounting which will occur within 30 days of closing. In
anticipation of this transaction, the Company recorded an
impairment charge of $4,632,000 in 2000.

On July 27, 1999, the Company sold all remaining book
assets of its idled Virginia Division. The assets consisted of
the Bullitt Preparation Plant and Transloader Complex. The
Company received approximately $650,000 in cash and the
purchaser assumed reclamation liabilities of approximately
$600,000. The transaction resulted in a net gain of approxi-
mately $360,000. The Company is negotiating to sell the

Virginia Division refuse site to a local mine operator who will
continue its active use. The site has no recorded asset value,
but $1,669,000 has been accrued for its reclamation.

In 1998, the Company sold various assets of the Virginia
Division for aggregate net proceeds of $511,000 and
recorded a gain of $475,000. The purchasers assumed certain
reclamation liabilities associated with these assets.

3. Unusual Charges

On January 29, 1999, the Company executed the Master
Agreement described in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Under that Agreement, the Company agreed to
make payments for retiree health benefits as if it continued to
be obligated under the 1993 UMWA Wage Agreement for 
eligible retirees and beneficiaries for a period of five years. At
the expiration of such five-year period, the Company is free
to initiate litigation contesting its obligation to continue to
provide such benefits, and the Company will continue to pro-
vide such benefits after the expiration of the five-year period
until it obtains a ruling from a Court of competent jurisdic-
tion that it is not obligated to provide such benefits. The esti-
mated present value of the Company’s obligation to provide
the benefits for those individuals who would become eligible
during the five-year period is approximately $2,000,000, and
was charged to expense in 1998. The Company currently
expects that it will be necessary to litigate this matter at the
conclusion of the five-year period. On the advice of counsel,
management believes that the Company should prevail in any
such litigation, although, as in any litigation, there can be no
assurance. Should the UMWA’s position be ultimately upheld,
the Company would be required to provide retiree health
benefits to such beneficiaries after the expiration of the five-
year period. The estimated present value of this contingent
liability, calculated as of December 31, 2000, is approxi-
mately $13,000,000.

4. Westmoreland Energy, Inc.

Westmoreland Energy, Inc., (“WEI”), a wholly-owned sub-
sidiary of the Company, holds general and limited partner
interests in partnerships which were formed to develop and
own cogeneration and other non-regulated independent
power plants. Equity interests in these partnerships range 
from 1.25 percent to 50 percent. As of December 31, 2000
WEI held interests in seven operating projects as listed and
described in the Project Summary below. The lenders to these
partnerships have recourse only against these projects and the
income and revenues therefrom. The debt agreements contain
various restrictive covenants including restrictions on making
cash distributions to the partners, with which the partner-
ships are in compliance. The type of restrictions on making
cash distributions to the partners vary from one project
lender to another.

On November 30, 2000, WEI announced the execution of an
agreement to sell its 30% equity interest in the three Virginia
Projects, Altavista, Hopewell and Southampton. The sale was
subject to receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals. All
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approvals were obtained in March and closing occurred on
March 23, 2001. The transaction is subject to a final account-
ing which will occur within 30 days of closing. Proceeds from

the sale should approximate $25,000,000. In anticipation of
this transaction, the Company recorded an impairment
charge of $4,632,000 in 2000.

Roanoke Roanoke
Project Ft. Drum Altavista Hopewell Southampton Ft. Lupton Valley I Valley II

Location: Watertown Altavista Hopewell Southampton Ft. Lupton Weldon Weldon
New York Virginia Virginia Virginia Colorado North Carolina North Carolina

Gross Megawatt 
Capacity: 55.5 MW 70 MW 70 MW 70 MW 290 MW 180 MW 50 MW

WEI Equity 
Ownership: 1.25% 30.0% 30.0% 30.0% 4.49% 50.0% 50.0%

Electricity Niagara Virginia Virginia Virginia Public Service Virginia Virginia
Purchaser: Mohawk Power Power Power of Colorado Power Power

Steam Host: US Army The Lane Firestone Tire Hercules, Inc. Rocky Mtn. Patch Rubber Patch Rubber
Company, Inc. & Rubber Co. Produce, Ltd. Company Company

Fuel Type: Coal Coal Coal Coal Natural Gas Coal Coal

Fuel Supplier: Ruhr AG Solomon’s A.T. Massey A.T. Massey Thermo Fuels, TECO Coal/ TECO Coal/
American Coal Mining Co. Coal Coal Inc. CONSOL CONSOL

Commercial 
Operations Date: 1989 1992 1992 1992 1994 1994 1995

The following is a summary of aggregated financial informa-
tion for all investments owned by WEI which are accounted
for under the equity method:

Balance Sheets

December 31, 2000 1999

(in thousands)

Assets
Current assets $124,388 $160,814
Property, plant and equipment, net 488,869 504,328
Other assets 38,001 36,060

Total assets $651,258 $701,202

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities $ 59,027 $ 56,869
Long-term debt and other liabilities 388,295 425,960
Equity 203,936 218,373

Total liabilities and equity $651,258 $701,202

WEI’s share of equity $ 54,723 $ 45,901
Impairment allowance (4,632) —
Other, net (672) (676)

WEI’s investment in independent 
power operations $ 49,419 $ 45,225

Income Statements

Years Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

(in thousands)

Revenues $215,454 $203,082 $247,015
Operating income 94,059 111,234 128,302
Net income 69,874 67,035 252,191

WEI equity in earnings 32,260 34,492 64,465
Cumulative effect of change 

in accounting principle — — (9,876)

WEI’s share of earnings $ 32,260 $ 34,492 $ 54,589

The Partnerships and the Company adopted Statement of
Position No 98-5, Reporting the Costs of Start-Up Activities
as of January 1, 1998. The statement requires companies to
expense the costs of start-up activities as incurred. The state-
ment also requires certain previously capitalized start-up
costs to be charged to expense at the time of adoption and
reported as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle. The cumulative effect on WEI’s share of earnings of
the Partnerships was $9,876,000 and was recorded separately
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in 1998. The
Company’s capitalized start-up costs were being amortized 
straight-line over the term of the power contract for the
related project.

WEI performs project development and venture and asset
management services for the partnerships and has recognized
related revenues of $294,000, $365,000 and $510,000 for
the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respec-
tively. Management fees, net of related costs, are recorded as
other income when the service is performed.

Southampton Project

WEI owns a 30% general partnership interest in LG&E-
Westmoreland Southampton (“Southampton Partnership”),
which owns the Southampton Project. The Southampton
Project, which was engaged in start-up and testing operations
from September 1991 through March 1992, failed to meet
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) operating
standards for a qualifying facility (“QF”) in 1992. On
February 23, 1994, the Southampton Partnership filed a
request with the FERC for a waiver of the FERC’s QF operat-
ing standard for 1992. Virginia Power intervened in the
FERC proceeding, opposed the granting of a waiver, and
alleged that its power contract with the Southampton 
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Partnership had been breached due to the failure of the facil-
ity to maintain QF status in 1992.

On July 7, 1994, the FERC issued an order (1) denying the
application of the Southampton Partnership for a waiver of
the FERC’s QF operating standard in 1992 with respect to
the Southampton Project and (2) directing the Southampton
Partnership to show cause why it should not be required 
to file rate schedules with the FERC governing its 1992 elec-
tricity sales for resale to Virginia Power. In 1994 the
Southampton Project established a reserve for the anticipated
refund obligations relating to this issue. On August 9, 1994,
the Southampton Partnership filed a request for rehearing of
FERC’s order or, alternatively, a motion for reconsideration.

On August 1, 1996, FERC entered its decision in the
Southampton case. FERC determined that the Southampton
Partnership’s request for reconsideration should be treated as
timely filed, but that the Southampton Project was not in
complete compliance with the QF requirements for 1992.
FERC ordered the Southampton Project to comply with
Section 205 for the Federal Power Act (“FPA”), and file, for
FERC’s review, rates for calendar year 1992 for wholesale
power sales to Virginia Power. Otherwise, the Southampton
Project remains exempt from regulation under the Public
Utility Holding Company Act (“PUHCA”), utility laws of
Virginia and the other provisions of the FPA. In August 1996,
the Southampton Partnership filed a motion seeking clarifica-
tion of the August 1, 1996 order. The Southampton
Partnership also filed an additional request for rehearing. On 
May 13, 1998 the FERC entered an Order clarifying its
August 1, 1996 decision in the Southampton case. While
affirming the requirement to make a refund to Virginia
Power, the FERC ruled that Virginia Power must compensate
the Southampton Partnership for every hour in which the unit
was available for dispatch, but not actually dispatched. FERC
appointed a settlement judge to assist the parties in evaluating
and negotiating a settlement.

In October, 1998, the Southampton Partnership and Virginia
Power entered into a settlement agreement which resolved
these issues. The settlement provided for, among other items,
payments by the Southampton Partnership to Virginia Power
of $1,000,000 annually for the years 1999–2001, followed by
a reduction in capacity payments from Virginia Power to the
Southampton Partnership of $500,000 for the years 2002–
2008. Following 2008, Virginia Power may elect to terminate
its power purchases from the Southampton Partnership or
continue to receive the $500,000 annual reduction in capacity
payments for the remainder of the power purchase agree-
ment. The settlement has been approved by the FERC.

Following resolution of the administrative proceeding,
Fourfold L.P., a limited partner of LG&E-Southampton L.P.
and a subsidiary of Chrysler Capital, made a demand on the
Southampton Partnership and the related Louisville Gas and 

Electric (“LG&E”) and Westmoreland entities for reimburse-
ment in the amount of $1,979,000 in connection with its
share of the settlement. The Westmoreland entities have made
a similar demand against the LG&E entities in the amount of
$3,300,000. Pursuant to a mediation effort in 1999, the proj-
ect participants (general partners, including a Westmoreland
subsidiary, Westpower-Franklin (“Westpower”), and opera-
tor) agreed to compromise and settle Fourfold L.P.’s claim.
Westpower, without admitting liability, contributed $100,000
of a significantly larger settlement to Fourfold. The mediation
which resolved the Fourfold claim did not successfully resolve
the Westpower claims to the Company’s satisfaction.
Westpower, as part of the sale of its equity interest to Virginia
Power, has agreed to compromise its claims against LG&E.
At the closing of the sale of the Partnership’s equity interest to
Virginia Power on March 23, 2001, LG&E paid Westpower
$750,000 in settlement of its claim.

ROVA I Project

WEI owns a 50% partnership interest in Westmoreland-
LG&E Partners (the “ROVA Partnership”). The ROVA
Partnership’s principal customer, Virginia Power, contracted
to purchase the electricity generated by ROVA I, one of two
units included in the ROVA Partnership, under a long-term
contract (the “Power Purchase and Operating Agreement”).
In the second quarter of 1994, that customer disputed the 
ROVA Partnership’s interpretation of provisions of the con-
tract dealing with the payment of the capacity purchase price
when the facility experiences a “forced outage” day. A forced
outage day is a day when ROVA I is not able to generate a
specified level of electrical output. The ROVA Partnership
believed that the customer was required to pay the ROVA
Partnership the full capacity purchase price unless forced out-
age days exceed a contractually stated allowed annual num-
ber. The customer asserted that it was not required to do so.

In October 1994, the ROVA Partnership filed a complaint
against Virginia Power seeking damages, contending that
Virginia Power breached the Power Purchase and Operating
Agreement (“PPOA”) in withholding such forced outage
capacity payments. The case was tried beginning on October
26, 1998 in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond,
Virginia. On December 2, 1998, the Circuit Court entered
judgment in the ROVA Partnership’s favor for the amount of
$14,800,000 (the amount that Virginia Power had withheld
at the trial date) plus interest for a total of $19,336,000. On
December 21, 1998, Virginia Power posted its appeal bond
and on December 29, 1998, noted its appeal of the Circuit
Court’s decision to the Virginia Supreme Court. Interest con-
tinued to accrue on the judgment. The Virginia Supreme
Court heard oral arguments on January 11, 2000 and on
March 3, 2000 reversed the trial court’s decision because the
trial court had excluded certain oral evidence. The Virginia
Supreme Court remanded the matter for further proceedings,
and the Circuit Court set those proceedings for October 30 of 
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this year. However, the trial date has been postponed and not
rescheduled. From May 1994 through October 2000,
Virginia Power withheld approximately $21,355,000 of
capacity payments during periods of forced outages. Interest
continues to accrue on this amount.

Before the trial began the ROVA Partnership and Virginia
Power agreed to resolve issues regarding continuation of
capacity payments on allowed forced outage days. Virginia
Power paid the Partnership for the capacity payments it had
withheld together with interest at the contract rate. WEI’s
share was $14,900,000. In addition to settlement of the liti-
gation, the ROVA Partnership and Virginia Power negotiated
an amendment to the PPOA which clarified the provisions 
of the contract governing capacity payments and provides
incentives for the Partnership to keep the ROVA unit avail-
able and on-line.

Rensselaer

On March 15, 1999, LG&E-Westmoreland Rensselaer
(“LWR”) completed the sale of the Rensselaer Project 
to Fulton Cogeneration Associates, L.P. (“Fulton”). LWR
received approximately $68,000,000 in cash as consideration
and recognized a gain of approximately $35,200,000 for the
sale of the Rensselaer plant and operating contracts. After
payment of expenses and remaining debts, Westmoreland
Energy Inc.’s share of the proceeds was approximately
$33,000,000 and it recognized its $17,600,000 portion of the
gain in equity in earnings.

5. Dominion Terminal Associates

Westmoreland Terminal Company (“WTC”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has a 20% interest in
Dominion Terminal Associates (“DTA”), a partnership formed
for the construction and operation of a coal-storage and 
vessel-loading facility in Newport News, Virginia. DTA’s
annual throughput capacity is 22 million tons, and its ground
storage capacity is 1.7 million tons. Each partner is responsi-
ble for its share of throughput and expenses at the terminal.
Total throughput tons for DTA were 7,160,000, 8,357,000
and 11,511,000 for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. The
Company currently leases the terminal’s ground storage space
and vessel-loading facilities to certain unaffiliated parties who
are engaged in the export business and provides related sup-
port services.

DTA originally financed its facilities with funds from the
issuance of industrial revenue bonds (“DTA Bonds”).
Although the DTA Bonds were issued by and are obligations
of the individual partners of DTA, the DTA Bonds are
recorded as liabilities of the partnership. Interest is paid to the
bondholders by DTA and is specifically allocated to the
respective partners.

The following is a summary of financial information for DTA:

Balance Sheets

December 31, 2000 1999

(in thousands)

Assets
Current assets $ 4,582 $ 4,379
Non-current assets 81,671 83,757

Total assets $ 86,253 $ 88,136

Liabilities and partners’ deficit
Current liabilities $ 1,466 $ 1,540
DTA bonds 106,240 106,240
Other liabilities 8,787 9,079
Partners’ deficit:

WTC 15,266 15,596
Other partners (45,506) (44,319)

Total liabilities and partners’ deficit $ 86,253 $ 88,136

WTC’s share of partners’ deficit $ 15,266 $ 15,596
Other, net 1,225 1,240
Impairment allowance (12,164) (12,164)

Investment in DTA $ 4,327 $ 4,672

Income Statements

Years Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

(in thousands)

Contribution from Partners $13,787 $12,902 $15,393
Total expenses 15,305 14,989 19,349

Excess of expenses over 
partners’ contributions $ (1,518) $ (2,087) $ (3,956)

Revenues from DTA $ 154 $ 518 $ 2,890
Company share of DTA costs 1,954 1,982 2,796

Equity in earnings (share 
of losses) from DTA $ (1,800) $ (1,464) $ 94

WTC and the Company had a joint and several obligation for
interest and principal obligations with respect to its share of
the DTA Bonds ($26,560,000 principal amount at December
31, 2000, 1999 and 1998.) WTC’s share of the DTA Bonds
were supported by a letter of credit on which the Company
was the ultimate obligor. In 1994, the Company was in viola-
tion of certain covenants of the letter of credit and the letter
of credit was drawn. The proceeds of the draw were used by
the bank that issued the letter of credit to purchase WTC’s
DTA Bonds from the bondholders. The Company repaid to
the bank the amounts drawn under the letter of credit and the
bank released the DTA Bonds to WTC. As a result, WTC’s
share of the bonds are no longer outstanding. The repurchase
of the DTA Bonds was accounted for by DTA as a decrease in
long-term debt and an increase in WTC’s equity account.

The Company actively markets its 20% share of the termi-
nal’s facilities. Accordingly, the Company’s equity in earnings
(losses) from DTA represents the revenue received from
WTC’s customer’s net of the Company’s share of the expenses
incurred attributable to the terminal’s coal-storage and vessel
loading operations.
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The DTA partners have a Throughput and Handling Agree-
ment whereby each partner is committed to fund its share of
DTA’s operating expenses and capital expenditures. Certain
costs are allocated to the partners based on volumes or 
measures other than partnership interests. WTC’s total cash
funding requirements were $1,623,000, $1,603,000 and
$1,877,000 for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. The
“Excess of expenses over partners’ contributions,” as shown
in DTA’s income statements, represents non-cash expenses of
DTA and does not indicate additional cash contribution
requirements for the partners.

The Company’s investment in DTA includes costs in excess of
its share of partners’ equity of $1,190,000 at December 31,
2000 and 1999, and miscellaneous receivables associated
with DTA of $35,000 and $50,000, respectively. The costs in
excess of its share of partners’ equity is no longer being amor-
tized as it has been fully reserved through the impairment
allowance recorded in 1998.

In 1998, the Company recognized a $12,164,000 impairment
charge relating to its investment in DTA to reduce its carrying
value to its estimated fair value. DTA is dependent upon its
customer’s coal export business to maintain an acceptable
level of throughput. The coal export business has experienced
a significant decline due to intense competitive pressure from
coal suppliers in other nations. At this time the Company
does not believe that those competitive pressures will abate in
the near term. The fair value assigned to DTA was based on a
1998 sale of a similar nearby terminal.

6. Debt

During the first quarter of 2000, WRI retired its remaining
long-term debt in the principal amount of $1,563,000 plus
accrued interest.

7. Workers’ Compensation Benefits

The Company was self-insured for workers’ compensation
benefits prior to and through December 31, 1995. Beginning
in 1996, the Company purchased third party insurance for
new workers’ compensation claims. Based on updated actuar-
ial and claims data, $67,000 and $1,239,000 were charged to
operations in 2000 and 1999, respectively, and $469,000 was
credited to operations in 1998. The cash payments for work-
ers’ compensation benefits were $3,003,000, $3,354,000 and
$3,540,000 in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

The Company was required to obtain surety bonds in con-
nection with its self-insured workers’ compensation plan. 
The Company’s surety bond underwriters required collateral
for such bonding. As of December 31, 2000 and 1999,
$3,849,000 and $4,748,000, respectively, was held in the col-
lateral accounts.

8. Pneumoconiosis (Black Lung) Benefits

The Company is self-insured for federal and state pneumoco-
niosis benefits for current and former employees and has
established an independent trust to pay these benefits.

The following table sets forth the funded status of the
Company’s obligation:

December 31, 2000 1999

(in thousands)

Actuarial present value of benefit obligation:
Expected claims from terminated employees $ 5,454 $ 8,329
Claimants 18,458 15,909

Total present value of benefit obligation 23,912 24,238
Plan assets at fair value, primarily 

government-backed securities 30,719 35,890

Excess of trust assets over 
pneumoconiosis benefit obligation $ 6,807 $11,652

The discount rates used in determining the accumulated pneu-
moconiosis benefit as of December 31, 2000 and 1999 were
7.50% and 7.75%, respectively.

In February 2000, the Company received $6,397,000 of 
the surplus from the trust and used the funds to pay post-
retirement medical expenses.

9. Post-retirement Medical and Life Insurance Benefits

Single-Employer Plans

The Company and its subsidiaries provide certain health care
and life insurance benefits for retired employees and their
dependents either voluntarily or as a result of the Coal Act.
Substantially all of the Company’s current employees may
also become eligible for these benefits if certain age and serv-
ice requirements are met at the time of termination or retire-
ment as specified in the plan agreement. These benefits are
provided through self-insured programs. The Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
106—Employers’ Accounting for Post-retirement Benefits
Other than Pensions (SFAS 106) effective January 1, 1993
and elected to amortize its unrecognized, unfunded accumu-
lated post-retirement benefit obligation over a 20-year period.

The Company maintains three plans subject to SFAS 106: the
Salaried Plan, the 1993 Wage Agreement Plan, and the 1992
Plan. The Salaried Plan provides certain health and life insur-
ance benefits for salaried retired employees and their depend-
ents. The 1993 Wage Agreement Plan resulted from the 1993
Wage Agreement between the Company and the UMWA which
adopted the terms of the National Wage Agreement entered
into that year between the BCOA and UMWA. That agree-
ment required the Company to establish and provide health 
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care benefits under an individual employer plan for age- and
service-eligible employees (and their dependents) who retired
during the term of the 1993 Wage Agreement. The 1992 Plan
was established as a result of the Coal Act. The Company is
required to provide health care benefits for beneficiaries (and
their dependents) who were age- and service-eligible to
receive benefits under the Coal Act as of February 1, 1993,
and who retired before October 1, 1994.

The UMWA contests the Company’s right to terminate bene-
fits at the expiration of the collective bargaining agreement
and further asserts that former employees will be entitled to
such benefits as they reach age 55. As a condition for not
opposing dismissal of the bankruptcy, the UMWA demanded
and pursuant to the terms of the Master Agreement discussed
in Note 1, the Company agreed to continue to provide bene-
fits to participants of the 1993 Wage Agreement for a period
of five years from the dismissal of the bankruptcy. The esti-
mated present value of the Company’s obligation to provide

these benefits for the five-year period of $2,000,000 was
charged to expense in 1998 as an unusual charge. At the
expiration of such five-year period, the Company is free to
initiate litigation contesting its obligation to continue to pro-
vide such benefits, and the Company will continue to provide
such benefits after the expiration of the five-year period until
it obtains a ruling from a Court of competent jurisdiction that
it is not obligated to provide such benefits. The Company
currently expects that it will be necessary to litigate this mat-
ter at the conclusion of the five-year period. On the advice of
counsel, management believes that the Company should pre-
vail in any such litigation, although, as in any litigation, there
can be no assurance. Should the UMWA’s position be ulti-
mately upheld, the Company would be required to provide
retiree health benefits to such beneficiaries after the expira-
tion of the five-year period. The estimated present value of
this contingent liability, calculated as of December 31, 2000,
is approximately $13,000,000.

The following table sets forth the actuarial present value of post-retirement benefit obligations and amounts recognized in the
Company’s financial statements:

Salaried Plan 1993 Wage Agreement 1992 Plan

December 31, 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999

($ in thousands) ($ in thousands) ($ in thousands)

Assumptions:
Discount rate 7.50% 7.75% 7.50% 7.75% 7.50% 7.75%
Change in benefit obligation:
Net benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 7,954 $ 10,623 $ 31,820 $ 38,707 $ 116,045 $ 142,124
Service cost 51 62 — — — —
Interest cost 656 601 2,540 2,310 8,502 8,423
Plan participant contributions 69 79 — — — —
Actuarial (gain) loss 1,049 (2,543) 1,962 (8,032) 1,517 (8,745)
Settlements — — — — — (18,580)
Gross benefits paid (813) (868) (1,234) (1,165) (9,677) (7,177)

8,966 7,954 35,088 31,820 116,387 116,045
Change in plan assets:
Employer contributions 744 789 1,234 1,165 9,677 7,177
Plan participant contributions 69 79 — — — —
Gross benefits paid (813) (868) (1,234) (1,165) (9,677) (7,177)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year — — — — — —
Funded status at end of year (8,966) (7,954) (35,088) (31,820) (116,387) (116,045)
Unrecognized net actuarial (gain) loss (4,172) (5,487) (3,030) (4,992) 24,973 24,223
Unrecognized net transition obligation 1,484 1,608 — — 47,718 51,694

Net amount recognized at end of year (recorded as 
accrued benefit cost in the accompanying balance sheet) $(11,654) $(11,833) $(38,118) $(36,812) $ (43,696) $ (40,128)
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The components of net periodic post-retirement benefit cost are as follows:

Salaried Plan 1993 Wage Agreement 1992 Plan

Year Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998 2000 1999 1998 2000 1999 1998

($ in thousands)

Assumptions:
Discount rate 7.50% 7.75% 6.75% 7.50% 7.75% 6.75% 7.50% 7.75% 6.75%
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost $ 51 $ 62 $ 56 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Interest cost 656 601 701 2,540 2,310 2,461 8,502 8,423 7,721
Amortization of:

Transition obligation 124 124 124 — — — 3,976 3,976 3,976
Prior service cost — — — — — 1,865 — — —
Actuarial (gain) loss (266) (263) (170) — — — 767 524 812

Total net periodic benefit cost $ 565 $ 524 $ 711 $ 2,540 $ 2,310 $ 4,326 $ 13,245 $ 12,923 $ 12,509

Sensitivity of retiree welfare results:
Effect of a one percentage point 

increase in assumed health care 
cost trend
—on total service and interest 

cost components $ 98 $ 52 $ 44 $ 405 $ 348 $ 444 $ 1,169 $ 1,183 $ 903
—on post-retirement benefit 

obligation 1,099 446 428 5,259 4,638 6,875 15,470 15,738 13,190
Effect of a one percentage point 

decrease in assumed health care 
cost trend
—on total service and interest 

cost components (90) (48) (44) (352) (301) (444) (1,042) (1,037) (903)
—on post-retirement benefit 

obligation $(1,040) $(422) $(428) $(4,590) $(4,046) $(6,875) $(13,622) $(13,858) $(13,190)

Post-retirement benefits include medical benefits for retirees
and their spouses (and Medicare Part B reimbursement for
certain retirees) and retiree life insurance.

The health care cost trend assumed on covered charges were
5.5%, 6.0% and 6.0%, for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respec-
tively, decreasing to an ultimate trend of 5.0% in 2001 
and beyond.

Cash payments for medical and life insurance benefits were
$11,795,000, $28,597,000 and $1,452,000 in 2000, 1999
and 1998, respectively. The 1999 payments include normal
benefit payments as well as settlements paid upon the
Company’s dismissal from bankruptcy.

Multiemployer Plan

Until December 1996, and before the commencement of the
Chapter 11 cases for the Debtor Corporations, the Company
made payments to the Combined Benefit Plan, which is a
multiemployer health plan neither controlled nor admin-
istered by the Company. The Combined Benefit Plan is
designed to pay benefits to UMWA workers (and dependents)
who retired prior to 1976. Prior to February 1993, the
amount paid by the Company was based on hours worked or
tons processed (depending on the source of the coal) in accor-
dance with the national contract with the UMWA. Beginning
February 1993 the Company was required by the Coal Act to
make monthly premium payments into the Combined Benefit
Plan. These payments were based on the number of benefici-
aries assigned to the Company, the Company’s UMWA

employees who retired prior to 1976 and the Company’s pro-
rata assigned share of UMWA retirees whose companies are
no longer in business. The net present value of the Company’s
future cash payments is estimated to be approximately
$36,549,000 at December 31, 2000. The Company expenses
payments to the Combined Benefit Plan when they are due.
Payments are generally made on the due date.

In January 1999, in accordance with the Master Agreement,
the Company made payments totaling $19,408,000 to the
Combined Benefit Plan. This payment included $15,715,000
for delinquent premiums, $2,178,000 for interest on those
premiums and $1,515,000 for premiums due for the first
three months of 1999, discounted at 6%. The Company pre-
paid the second and third quarter 1999 premiums at the
beginning of each quarter and resumed monthly payments to
the Combined Benefit Plan in October 1999. The premiums
and interest paid in January 1999 were recognized as expense
in 1998. As a result of the bankruptcy, no payments were
made during 1998.

10. Retirement Plans

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

During 1997, the Company elected to terminate its over-
funded non-contributory defined benefit pension plan. Upon
termination of the plan, the excess fund assets reverted to the
Company. The reversion to the Company was approximately
$13,040,000, net of excise taxes payable of $3,135,000. The
Company received $12,540,000 of the funds and paid the
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excise taxes in February 1998. The remaining amount being
held in escrow to pay final termination costs related to the
plan was received in February 2000.

Simultaneously with the termination of this plan, the
Company adopted a new plan that provides for essentially the
same benefits as the prior plan for current employees. For 
the purpose of the benefit calculation under the new plan,
credited service under the prior plan is combined with 
credited service under the new plan and a benefit amount is
calculated. The amount of the accrued benefit under the prior
plan, calculated as of the prior plan termination date, is 
subtracted to arrive at the benefit amount payable under the
new plan.

Benefits are based on years of service and the employee’s
average annual compensation for the highest five continuous

years of employment as specified in the plan agreement. The
Company’s funding policy is to contribute annually the mini-
mum amount prescribed, as specified by applicable regula-
tions. Prior service costs and actuarial gains are amortized
over plan participants’ expected future period of service using
the straight-line method.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

Effective January 1, 1992, the Company adopted the
Westmoreland Coal Company Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan (“SERP”). The SERP is an unfunded non-
qualified deferred compensation plan which provides benefits
to certain employees that are not eligible under the Company’s
defined benefit pension plan beyond the maximum limits
imposed by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
(“ERISA”) and the Internal Revenue Code.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the plans’ benefit obligations and fair value of assets for the 
periods ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 and the amounts recognized in the Company’s financial statements for both 
the defined benefit pension and SERP Plans:

Qualified Pension Benefits SERP Benefits

December 31, 2000 1999 2000 1999

($ in thousands)

Assumptions:
Discount rate 7.50% 7.75% 7.50% 7.75%
Expected return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% 9.00% 9.00%
Rate of compensation increase 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Change in benefit obligation:
Net benefit obligation at beginning of year $1,379 $1,418 $ 1,300 $ 1,393
Service cost 140 205 54 66
Interest cost 98 105 93 100
Actuarial gain (186) (333) (66) (125)
Gross benefits paid (9) (17) (44) (134)

Net benefit obligation at end of year 1,422 1,378 1,337 1,300

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 5,469 5,487 — —
Actual return on plan assets 432 (1) — —
Employer Contributions — — 44 134
Gross benefits paid (9) (17) (44) (134)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 5,892 5,469 — —

Funded status at end of year 4,470 4,090 (1,337) (1,300)
Unrecognized net actuarial gain (467) (344) (621) (642)
Unrecognized prior service cost 138 180 345 461
Unrecognized net transition asset (23) (29) — —

Net amount recognized at end of year 4,118 3,897 (1,613) (1,481)

Amounts recognized in the accompanying balance sheet consist of:
Prepaid benefit cost 4,118 3,897 — —
Accrued benefit cost (included in other liabilities) — — (1,613) (1,481)

Net amount recognized at end of year $4,118 $3,897 $(1,613) $(1,481)
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The components of net periodic pension cost (benefit) are as follows:

Qualified Pension Benefits SERP Benefits

Year Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998 2000 1999 1998

($ in thousands) ($ in thousands)

Assumptions:
Discount rate 7.50% 7.75% 6.75% 7.50% 7.75% 6.75%
Expected return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% 9.00% 9.00% 9.00% 9.00%
Rate of compensation increase 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost $ 141 $ 204 $ 183 $ 54 $ 66 $ 56
Interest cost 98 105 88 93 99 86
Expected return on assets (492) (493) (491) — — —
Amortization of:
Transition asset (6) (6) (6) — — —
Prior service cost 42 42 42 116 116 116
Actuarial gain (4) (1) (36) (86) (45) (52)

Total net periodic pension cost (benefit) $(221) $(149) $(220) $177 $236 $206

1974 UMWA Pension Plan

The Company was required under the 1993 Wage Agreement
to pay amounts based on hours worked or tons processed
(depending on the source of the coal) in the form of contri-
butions to the 1974 UMWA Pension Plan with respect to
UMWA represented employees. The 1974 UMWA Pension
Plan is neither controlled nor administered by the Company.

Under the Multiemployer Pension Plan Act (“MPPA”), a
company contributing to a multiemployer plan is liable for its
share of unfunded vested liabilities upon withdrawal from the
plan. In connection with the cessation of mining operations,
the Company recorded an estimate of the liability the
Company would incur upon withdrawal from the 1974
UMWA Pension plan. The actuarial estimate of this obliga-
tion was estimated at $13,800,000 in 1996. The 1974
UMWA Pension Plan has not provided the Company with an
updated actuarial estimate of the withdrawal liability calcu-
lated as of June 30, 1998, the date of the asset valuation the
Company believes should be used to determine the actual
withdrawal liability, in accordance with the provisions of
MPPA. The Company believes the liability at June 30, 1998
would be substantially less than $13,800,000 and is contest-
ing the withdrawal liability through arbitration. In accor-
dance with MPAA, the Company must amortize this
withdrawal liability, with interest, during the arbitration
process by making payments of approximately $172,500 per
month. These payments have been made and will be recover-
able to the extent the final assessed amount is less than the
amounts paid. Should the Company be unsuccessful in the
arbitration proceedings, it will be obligated to continue to
make payments through March 2008.

11. Consent Judgment and Other Dismissal Obligations

On January 4, 1999, pursuant to the consent judgments
described in Note 1, the Company paid the Combined Benefit
Fund and the 1992 Benefit Plan $17,230,000 and $16,518,000,
respectively, plus interest of $5,258,000 for a total of
$39,006,000. Included in the amount paid to the Combined
Benefit Fund was a prepayment of approximately $1,515,000
for the first quarter of 1999. The Master Agreement also 
required certain other payments to general pre-petition credi-
tors, the reimbursement of bankruptcy related costs incurred
by the Funds and an annual installment to the 1974 UMWA
Pension Plan. These amounts were $5,686,000 (including
interest), $4,000,000, and $1,606,000 (including interest),
respectively. The total amount paid on January 4, 1999, for
all obligations was $50,288,000. Of this amount $26,306,000
was charged to expense in 1998.

12. Income Taxes (Benefit)

Income tax expense (benefit) attributable to income (loss)
before income taxes consists of:

2000 1999 1998

(in thousands)

Federal:
Current $(599) $ — $3,687
Deferred — — —

— — 3,687
State:

Current 162 (82) 100
Deferred — — —

Income tax expense (benefit) $(437) $(82) $3,787
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Income tax expense (benefit) attributable to income (loss)
before income taxes differed from the amounts computed by
applying the statutory Federal income tax rate of 34% to pre-
tax income (loss) from continuing operations as a result of
the following:

2000 1999 1998

(in thousands)

Computed tax expense (benefit) 
at statutory rate $ (44)$ 2,909 $ (939)

Increase (decrease) in tax 
expense resulting from:

Percentage depletion (563) (417) (807)
State income taxes, net 106 — —
Change in valuation allowance 

for net deferred tax assets 11 (2,951) 5,676
Other 53 377 (143)

Income tax expense (benefit) $(437) $ (82) $3,787

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to 
significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred 
tax liabilities at December 31, 2000 and 1999 are presented
below:

2000 1999

(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 68,071 $ 69,149
Alternative minimum tax credit 

carryforwards 2,561 3,148
DTA impairment 4,136 4,136
Deferred income — 117
Accruals for the following:

Workers’ compensation 5,381 6,212
Post-retirement benefit obligation 35,257 34,222
Reclamation costs 728 897
Other accruals 1,208 440

Total gross deferred assets 117,342 118,321
Less valuation allowance (83,391) (83,380)

Net deferred tax assets 33,951 34,941

Deferred tax liabilities:
Investment in independent power projects $ (17,593) $ (16,308)
Plant and equipment, differences due to 

depreciation and amortization (12,644) (13,189)
Prepaid pension cost (1,400) (1,325)
Excess of trust assets over pneumoconiosis 

benefit obligation (2,314) (3,961)
Advanced royalties, capitalized for 

financial purposes — (110)
Unamortized discount on long-term debt 

for financial purposes — (48)

Total gross deferred tax liabilities (33,951) (34,941)

Net deferred tax liability $ — $ —

The Company and subsidiaries have available net operating
loss carryforwards to reduce future taxable income which
expire as follows:

Expiration Regular
Date Tax

(in thousands)

2007 $ 6,437
2008 13,014
2009 4,879
2010 52,081

after 2011 123,798

Total $200,209

The Company has alternative minimum tax credit carryfor-
wards of $2,561,000 which are available indefinitely to offset
future taxes payable.

13. Capital Stock

Preferred stock dividends at a rate of 8.5% per annum were
paid quarterly from the third quarter of 1992 through the
first quarter of 1994. The declaration and payment of pre-
ferred stock dividends was suspended in the second quarter of
1994 in connection with extension agreements with the
Company’s principal lenders. Upon the expiration of these
extension agreements, the Company paid a quarterly divi-
dend on April 1, 1995 and July 1, 1995. Pursuant to the
requirements of Delaware law, described below, the preferred
stock dividend was suspended in the third quarter of 1995 as
a result of recognition of losses and the subsequent share-
holders’ deficit. The quarterly dividends which are accumu-
lated but unpaid through and including January 1, 2001
amount to $11,088,000 in the aggregate ($53.13 per pre-
ferred share or $13.28 per depositary share). Common stock
dividends may not be declared until the preferred stock divi-
dends that are accumulated but unpaid are made current.

On March 10, 1999, the Company offered to purchase up to
1,052,631 depositary shares, each representing one quarter of
a share of its Series A Convertible Exchangeable Preferred
Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock”). The offer price of $19 per
share was in full satisfaction of claims to accumulated but
unpaid dividends on the depositary shares tendered. On April
7, 1999, the offer expired and 1,683,903 depositary shares
were tendered in response to the offer. Because the number of
shares tendered exceeded the maximum number of shares the
Company had offered to purchase, a proration factor of
approximately 62.5% was applied to all shares tendered. A
total of 1,052,631 depositary shares were purchased for
$20,000,000. The balance sheet effect of this transaction was
to reduce cash and shareholders’ equity by $20,000,000.
Following completion of the tender offer, the depositary
shares purchased in the offer were converted into shares of
Series A Preferred Stock, the shares of Series A Preferred
Stock were retired, and the capital of the Company was
reduced by the par value of the shares of Series A Preferred
Stock retired. This reduced the number of shares of Series A 
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Preferred Stock outstanding from 575,000 to 311,843, accu-
mulated but unpaid dividends from $21,994,000 to
$11,928,000, and the ongoing quarterly preferred dividend
requirement from $1,222,000 to $663,000.

On September 16, 1999, the Company made a second offer
to purchase up to an additional 631,000 depositary shares at
$19 per depositary share. The offer price of $19 per share
was in full satisfaction of claims to accumulated but unpaid
dividends on the depositary shares tendered. On October 26,
1999, the offer expired and 412,536 depositary shares were
tendered in response to the offer. The balance sheet effect of 
the transaction was to reduce cash and shareholders’ equity
by $7,838,000. Following completion of the tender offer, the
depositary shares purchased in the offer were converted to
shares of Series A Preferred Stock, the shares of Series A
Preferred Stock were retired, and the capital of the Company
was reduced by the par value of the shares of Series A
Preferred Stock retired. This reduced the number of shares 
of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding from 311,843 to
208,708, accumulated but unpaid dividends from $13,253,000
to $8,870,000 and the ongoing quarterly dividend require-
ment from $663,000 to $444,000.

There are statutory restrictions limiting the payment of pre-
ferred stock dividends under Delaware law, the state in which
the Company is incorporated. Under Delaware law, the
Company is permitted to pay preferred stock dividends only:
(1) out of surplus, surplus being the amount of shareholders’
equity in excess of the par value of the Company’s two classes
of stock; or (2) in the event there is no surplus, out of net
profits for the fiscal year in which a preferred stock dividend
is declared (and/or out of net profits from the preceding fiscal
year), but only to the extent that shareholders’ equity exceeds
the par value of the preferred stock (which par value was
$208,708 at December 31, 2000). The Company had share-
holders’ equity at December 31, 2000 of $3,373,000 and 
the par value of all outstanding shares of preferred stock 
and shares of common stock aggregated $17,883,000 at
December 31, 2000.

14. Incentive Stock Option and 
Stock Appreciation Rights Plans

As of December 31, 2000, the Company had options out-
standing from three Incentive Stock Option (“ISOs”) and
Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) Plans for employees and
three Incentive Stock Option Plans for directors.

The 1982 and 1985 employee Plans provide for the granting
of ISOs and SARs and the 1995 and 2000 employee Plans
provide for the granting of ISOs and restricted stock. The
1985, 1995 and 2000 Plans also provide for the grant of non-
qualified options, if so designated, and contain the terms
specified for non-qualified options. A SAR gives the holder
the right to receive, without payment to the Company, its
“value” in cash. The “value” of an SAR for this purpose
would be the excess, if any, of the fair market value of one
share of common stock of the Company on the date the right
is exercised over the exercise price of the SAR. Restricted

stock is an award payable in shares of common stock subject
to forfeiture under certain conditions. ISOs granted under the
1985, 1995 and 2000 Plans may not have an option price
that is less than the fair market value of the stock on the date
of grant. ISOs and SARs under the 1985 Plan may not be 
exercised until two years from the date of grant as to 50% of
the total number granted and as to the remaining 50% not
until three years from the date of grant. The right to exercise
ISOs and SARs terminates after eight years from the date of
grant. The maximum number of shares of the Company’s
common stock and SARs that could be issued or granted
under the Plans is as follows:

1985 Plan 1995 Plan 2000 Plan

Shares of common stock 400,000 350,000 350,000
Stock appreciation rights 940,000 N/A N/A

The 1985 Plan expired on January 7, 1995. Therefore, no
further ISOs or SARs may now be granted from this plan.

The 1991 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan for Non-
Employee Directors provides for the granting on September 1
of each year of options to purchase 1,500 shares of the
Company’s common stock. The maximum number of shares
of the Company’s common stock that may be issued pursuant
to options granted under the plan is 200,000 shares and the
options expire ten years after the date of grant. Options
granted pursuant to this plan vest after the completion of one
year of board service following the date of grant. Grants
under this plan were suspended in 1996 and resumed upon
the Company’s dismissal from bankruptcy. At December 31,
1998, there were options outstanding exercisable for 18,000
shares of common stock at a weighted average exercise price
per share of $8.76. At December 31, 1999, there were
options outstanding exercisable for 52,500 shares of common
stock at a weighted average exercise price of $5.02. At
December 31, 2000, there were options outstanding exercis-
able for 61,500 shares of common stock at a weighted aver-
age exercise price per share of $4.85.

In 1996, the shareholders approved the 1996 Directors’ Stock
Incentive Plan. The plan provides for the grant of non-qualified
stock options to directors on an annual basis beginning on
the date of the 1996 Annual Meeting with options for 20,000
shares to be granted to each director on that date or after a
director is first elected or appointed, and options for 10,000
shares to be granted to each director after each annual meet-
ing thereafter. The maximum number of shares of the
Company’s common stock that may be issued or granted
under the plan is 350,000 and the options expire not later
than ten years after the date of grant. Options granted pur-
suant to this plan vest 25% per year over a four-year period.
Options granted during a director’s period of active service
continue to vest pursuant to this schedule if a director leaves
the board due to reaching retirement age. In the event of a
change of control of the Company, any option that was not
previously exercisable and vested will become fully exercis-
able and vested.
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In 2000, the Board of Directors adopted the 2000 Non-employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan, and as permitted by applicable
American Stock Exchange rules, did not seek shareholder approval of this plan. Like the 1996 Directors’ Plan, options for 20,000
shares are granted to each director when first elected or appointed, and options for 10,000 shares are granted after each annual
meeting thereafter. The maximum number of shares that may be issued under the plan and the vesting, expiration and accelera-
tion upon change-of-control provisions are the same as the 1996 Directors’ Plan.

Information for 2000, 1999 and 1998 with respect to both the employee and director Plans is as follows:

Issue Stock Option Weighted Average
Price Range Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at December 31, 1997 $2.63–20.00 367,086 $ 7.28
Expired or forfeited in 1998 18.50 (17,586) 18.50

Outstanding at December 31, 1998 2.63–20.00 349,500 6.72
Granted in 1999 3.00– 4.00 449,500 3.11
Exercised in 1999 2.63 (25,000) 2.63

Outstanding at December 31, 1999 2.63–20.00 774,000 4.76
Granted in 2000 2.81– 7.94 477,800 3.43
Exercised in 2000 2.625 (2,000) 2.625
Expired or forfeited in 2000 14.276 (75,000) 14.276

Outstanding at December 31, 1999 $2.63–20.00 1,174,800 $ 3.64

Information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2000 is as follows:

Weighted Average
Remaining

Range of Number Contractual Life Weighted Average Number Weighted Average
Exercise Price Outstanding (Years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

$2.63– 3.00 792,300 7.5 $2.87 398,500 $2.88
3.01– 4.00 217,500 8.9 3.49 78,500 3.91
4.01– 8.00 119,000 5.2 6.72 69,000 6.15
8.01–20.00 46,000 0.6 9.72 46,000 9.72

$2.63–20.00 1,174,800 7.3 $3.64 592,000 $3.93

The Company applies APB Opinion 25 and related Interpretations in accounting for its plans. Accordingly, no compensation cost
has been recognized for its stock option plans. Had compensation cost for the Company’s three stock-based compensation plans
been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under those plans consistent with the FASB Statement 123,
the Company’s net income (loss) and income (loss) per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

2000 1999 1998

(in thousands, except per share data)

Net income (loss):
As reported $(1,468) $5,645 $(11,436)
Pro forma $(2,140) $5,227 $(11,600)

Income (loss) per share:
As reported, basic (.21) .80 (1.64)
Pro forma, basic (.30) .74 (1.67)
As reported, diluted (.21) .79 (1.64)
Pro forma, diluted (.30) .73 (1.67)
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The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the 
following weighted average assumptions used for options granted in 2000 and 1999. The weighted average fair value of options
granted in 2000 and 1999 was $3.62 and $.89, respectively. There were no options granted in 1998.

Options Dividend Risk-Free Expected
Granted Yield Volatility Rate Life

2000 None 815–860% 5.80–6.13% 8–10 years
1999 None 174–175% 4.76–6.11% 8–10 years

15. Business Segment Information

The Company’s operations have been classified into three segments: coal, independent power operations and terminal operations.
The coal segment includes the production and sale of coal from the Powder River Basin in eastern Montana. It also includes coal
mining operations in the eastern United States which were idled in the third quarter of 1995. The independent power operations
includes the ownership of interests in cogeneration and other non-regulated independent power plants. The terminal operation
segment consists of the leasing of capacity at Dominion Terminal Associates, a coal storage and vessel loading facility.
Summarized financial information by segment for 2000, 1999 and 1998 is as follows:

Independent Terminal
Year Ended December 31, 2000 Coal Power Operations Corporate Total

(in thousands)

Revenues:
Coal revenue $35,137 $ — $ — $ — $35,137
Equity in earnings (share of losses) — 32,260 (1,800) — 30,460

35,137 32,260 (1,800) — 65,597
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales—coal 30,250 — — — 30,250
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 1,847 29 — 96 1,972
Selling and administrative expense 900 456 362 6,068 7,786
Heritage health benefit costs — — — 21,503 21,503
Pension benefit — — — (585) (585)
Doubtful account recoveries — — — (400) (400)
Impairment charge — 4,632 — — 4,632
Loss (gains) on sales of assets — (2) — 8 6

Operating income (loss) $ 2,140 $27,145 $(2,162) $(26,690) $ 433

Capital expenditures $ 621 $ 10 $ — $ 16 $ 647

Property, plant and equipment (net) $34,587 $ 60 $ — $ 46 $34,693

Information for the Company’s reportable segments relates to 2000 consolidated totals as follows:

(in thousands)

Income (loss) before income taxes:
Operating income $ 433
Interest expense (911)
Interest income 1,866
Minority interest (518)
Other income (expense) (999)

Income (loss) before income taxes $ (129)
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Independent Terminal
Year Ended December 31, 1999 Coal Power Operations Corporate Total

(in thousands)

Revenues:
Coal revenue $38,539 $ — $ — $ — $38,539
Equity in earnings (share of losses) — 34,492 (1,464) — 33,028

38,539 34,492 (1,464) — 71,567
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales—coal 33,637 — — — 33,637
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 1,425 29 — 117 1,571
Selling and administrative expense 770 1,020 732 7,138 9,660
Heritage health benefit costs — — — 18,737 18,737
Pension benefit — — — (149) (149)
Doubtful account recoveries — — — (174) (174)
Gains on sales of assets (433) — — — (433)

Operating income (loss) $ 3,140 $33,443 $(2,196) $(25,669) $ 8,718

Capital expenditures $ 1,999 $ 29 $ — $ 41 $ 2,069

Property, plant and equipment (net) $36,343 $ 81 $ 8 $ 126 $36,558

Information for the Company’s reportable segments relates to 1999 consolidated totals as follows:

(in thousands)

Income before income taxes:
Operating income $ 8,718
Interest expense (1,135)
Interest income 2,052
Minority interest (854)
Other income (expense) (226)

Income before income taxes $ 8,555

Independent Terminal
Year Ended December 31, 1998 Coal Power Operations Corporate Total

(in thousands)

Revenues:
Coal revenue $44,010 $ — $ — $ — $ 44,010
Equity in earnings (share of losses) — 64,465 94 — 64,559

44,010 64,465 94 — 108,569
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales—coal 37,472 — — — 37,472
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 1,472 39 648 130 2,289
Selling and administrative expense 1,297 1,162 753 3,828 7,040
Heritage health benefit costs — — — 31,449 31,449
Pension expense — — — 111 111
Unusual charges — — — 2,000 2,000
Doubtful account recoveries — — — (1,028) (1,028)
Impairment charge — — — 12,164 12,164
Gains on sales of assets (473) (2) — — (475)

Operating income (loss) $ 4,242 $63,266 $(1,307) $(48,654) $ 17,547

Capital expenditures $ 2,935 $ 8 $ — $ 2 $ 2,945

Property, plant and equipment (net) $35,768 $ 88 $ 8 $ 1,086 $ 36,950
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

Information for the Company’s reportable segments relates to
1998 consolidated totals as follows:

(in thousands)

Income before income taxes:
Operating income $ 17,547
Interest expense (190)
Minority interest (775)
Other income 1,999
Reorganization items $(11,466)

Income before income taxes $ 7,115

The Company derives its coal revenues from a few key cus-
tomers. The customers from which more than 10% of total
revenue has been derived and the percentage of total revenue
is summarized as follows:

2000 1999 1998

(in thousands)

Customer A $23,636 $19,392 $20,905
B 8,942 7,227 9,909
C — 9,289 10,407

Percentage of total revenue 53% 50% 38%

16. Commitments and Contingencies

Protection of the Environment

The Company believes its mining operation is in compliance
with applicable federal, state and local environmental laws
and regulations, including those relating to surface mining
and reclamation, and it is the policy of the Company to 
operate in compliance with such standards. The Company
maintains compliance primarily through maintenance and
monitoring activities. WRI has an agreement with its mining
contractor, Washington Group International (which owns
20% of the stock of WRI), which determined the Company’s
maximum liability for reclamation costs associated with final
mine closure. It calls for the Company to pay approximately
$1,700,000 over a 15-year period which began in December
1990. All remaining liability is that of Washington Group
International or customers, who are obligated to pay final
reclamation costs under provisions of their respective 
coal sales contracts. The Company has deferred credits of
$719,682, $826,000 and $410,000 at December 31, 2000,
1999 and 1998, respectively, related to the Company’s obliga-
tion for monitoring and maintaining the final reclaimed area
for five years subsequent to Washington Group International’s
reclamation procedures. Such credits represent funds received
from Washington Group International and customers for
their respective shares of these costs. In addition, per ton 

reclamation fees imposed by the Federal Surface Mining
Control and Reclamation Act of 1977 (the “Surface Mining
Act”) amounted to approximately $1,719,000, $1,913,000
and $2,241,000 in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

The Company estimates the total cost for the reclamation of
its remaining Virginia Division properties is approximately
$1,669,000 and $1,811,000, all of which has been accrued as
of December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. No assurance
can be given that the amount accrued accurately reflects the
actual cost of reclamation activities that may be required.
Costs incurred to perform reclamation in 2000, 1999 and
1998 amounted to $223,000, $144,000 and $153,000,
respectively. During 1999 and 1998, the Company sold 
certain Virginia Division properties. The reclamation obliga-
tions assumed by the purchasers of these properties were
approximately $597,000 for properties sold during 1999. In
addition, there was a decrease in the estimated costs to
reclaim the remaining properties of $182,000 which was
recorded during 1999.

The Company has $10,600,000 and $4,099,000 of reclama-
tion bonds in place in Montana and Virginia, respectively, to
assure compliance with all applicable regulations.

Adventure Resources, Inc.

The Company has both secured and unsecured claims against
Adventure Resources, Inc. (“Adventure”) in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of West Virginia.
The secured claims approximate $3,202,000 and are collater-
alized by first and subordinated liens on certain assets of
Adventure. Cash payments of $400,000, $174,000, and
$1,028,000 were received during 2000, 1999 and 1998,
respectively, and the Company is seeking to recover the
remaining amounts. As of December 31, 2000, all remaining
claims against Adventure have been fully reserved due to the
uncertainty of collection.

Lease Obligations

WRI has an agreement to lease coal reserves from the Crow
Tribe of Indians which is in effect until exhaustion of the
underlying reserves. This lease requires annual rentals,
recoupable minimum royalty and production royalty pay-
ments. The royalty rate varies from 6% of the F.O.B. mine
price to a 12.5% rate net of all production-based taxes.

Royalties and rentals charged to expense under all lease
agreements, including those in effect for WRI, amounted to
$2,898,000, $3,115,000 and $3,591,000 in 2000, 1999 and
1998, respectively.
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The Company has operating lease commitments expiring at
various dates, primarily for real property and equipment.
Minimum future rental obligations existing under these leases
at December 31, 2000 are as follows:

(in thousands)

2001 $334
2002 289
2003 289
2004 296

Long-Term Sales Commitments

The following table presents total sales tonnage the Company
expects to ship under existing long-term contracts for the
next five years from the Company’s mining operations (all
from WRI):

Projected Sales Tonnage Under
Existing Long-Term Contracts

(in thousands)

2001 4,650
2002 4,650
2003 950
2004 950
2005 700

On July 1, 1999, WRI restructured the terms of its coal sales
agreement with Northern States Power, now Xcel Energy. The
new agreement increases the tonnage of coal that Xcel Energy
is required to purchase and that WRI is required to deliver
and eliminates the former option agreement. The new agree-
ment expires on December 31, 2002. WRI anticipates it will
negotiate an extension of the new agreement prior to its expi-
ration. Under the old agreement, WRI had entered into an 

option agreement whereby it had agreed to sell up to an addi-
tional 200,000,000 tons of coal to Xcel Energy. As compen-
sation for granting the option, WRI received 1 1/4 cents,
payable quarterly (with applicable price adjustments) for each
optioned ton. The option was never exercised. WRI recorded
no income relative to the option agreement during 2000. In
1999 and 1998 WRI recorded income of $1,593,000 and
$3,171,000, respectively, relative to this option agreement.

Other Contingencies

The Company is subject to certain financial ratio tests under
the terms of the Master Agreement. The Company agreed to
secure its obligations under the Master Agreement by provid-
ing a Contingent Promissory Note (“Note”). The original
principal amount of the Note is $12 million; the principal
amount of the Note decreases to $6 million in 2002. The
Note is payable only in the event the Company does not meet
its Coal Act obligations, fails to meet certain ongoing finan-
cial tests specified in the Note, fails to maintain the required
balance in the escrow account established under an escrow
agreement or fails to comply with certain covenants set forth
in a security agreement. The Company has satisfied the finan-
cial ratio tests as required under the terms of the Master
Agreement as of December 31, 2000.

17. Transactions with Affiliated Companies

Westmoreland Resources, Inc., a 80% owned subsidiary, has
a coal mining contract with Washington Group International,
one of its stockholders. Mining costs incurred under the con-
tract were $17,507,000, $19,445,000 and $22,654,000 in
2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

18. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Summarized quarterly financial data for 2000 and 1999 are as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

(in thousands except per share data)

2000
Revenues $ 12,665 $ 14,495 $ 14,128 $ 24,309
Costs and expenses (14,538) (16,312) (14,972) (19,342)

Operating income (loss) (1,873) (1,817) (844) 4,967
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (2,491) (2,079) (1,035) 5,476
Income tax benefit — — — 437
Net income (loss) (2,491) (2,079) (1,035) 5,913
Less preferred stock dividend requirements (444) (444) (444) (444)

Income (loss) applicable to common shareholders $ (2,935) $ (2,523) $ (1,479) $ 5,469

Income (loss) per share applicable to common shareholders $ (.42) $ (.35) $ (.21) $ .77

Number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding (weighted average) 7,068 7,070 7,070 7,070

Three Months Ended March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

(in thousands except per share data)

1999
Revenues $ 30,829 $ 12,394 $ 14,292 $ 14,052
Costs and expenses (17,847) (16,844) (17,876) (10,282)

Operating income (loss) 12,982 (4,450) (3,584) 3,770
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 12,555 (4,208) (3,234) 3,442
Income tax (expense) benefit (45) — 99 28
Net income (loss) 12,510 (4,208) (3,135) 3,470
Less preferred stock dividend requirements (1,222) (663) (663) (444) 

Income (loss) applicable to common shareholders $ 11,288 $ (4,871) $ (3,798) $ 3,026

Income (loss) per share applicable to common shareholders $ 1.62 $ (.69) $ (.54) $ .43

Number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding (weighted average) 6,980 7,020 7,033 7,040
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Selected Financial Data
Five Year Review 

2000 1999 1998(1) 1997(1) 1996(1)

(in thousands except per share date)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Information
Revenue—Coal $ 35,137 $ 38,539 $ 44,010 $ 47,182 $ 44,152

—Independent Power and other 30,460 33,028 64,559 18,650 16,162

Total revenues 65,597 71,567 108,569 65,832 60,314
Cost and expenses 61,511 63,605 78,250 66,383 80,104
Pension expense (benefit) (585) (149) 111 (5,547) (3,601)
Unusual charges (credits) — — 2,000 (27,214) (11,896)
Doubtful accounts recoveries (400) (174) (1,028) (1,410) (3,449)
Impairment charges 4,632 — 12,164 — —
Loss (gains) on the sales of assets 6 (433) (475) (969) (24,238)

Operating income 433 8,718 17,547 34,589 23,394
Interest expense (911) (1,135) (190) (320) (400)
Minority interest (518) (854) (775) (1,092) (890)
Interest and other income 867 1,826 1,999 713 3,491

Income (loss) before reorganization items and income taxes (129) 8,555 18,581 33,890 25,595
Reorganization legal and consulting fees — — (9,872) (2,484) —
Reorganization interest income (expense), net — — (1,594) 1,552 —
Income tax benefit (expense) 437 82 (3,787) — (575)

Income from continuing operations 308 8,637 3,328 32,958 25,020
Discontinued operations:

Operating loss — — — (1,284) (1,049)
Impairment and loss on disposal — — — (3,518) —

Loss from discontinued operations — — — (4,802) (1,049)

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles — — (9,876) — 14,372

Net income (loss) 308 8,637 (6,548) 28,156 38,343
Less preferred stock dividend requirements 1,776 2,992 4,888 4,888 4,888

Net income (loss) applicable to common shareholders $ (1,468) $ 5,645 $ (11,436) $ 23,268 $ 33,455

Net income (loss) per share applicable to common shareholders $ (.21) $ .80 $ (1.64) $ 3.34 $ 4.80
Weighted average number of common and 

common equivalent shares 7,070 7,040 6,965 6,965 6,965

Balance Sheet Information
Working capital (deficit) $ (1,557) $ 8,886 $ 15,054 $ 38,512 $ 10,185
Net property, plant and equipment 34,693 36,558 36,950 35,687 42,700
Total assets 139,096 142,297 215,606 181,997 153,971
Total debt — 1,563 1,762 458 1,324
Liabilities subject to compromise — — — 132,667 136,191
Shareholders’ equity 3,373 3,057 21,845 28,393 237

(1) On December 23, 1996, Westmoreland Coal Company and four subsidiaries, Westmoreland Resources, Inc., Westmoreland Coal Sales Company, Westmoreland
Energy, Inc., and Westmoreland Terminal Company (the “Debtor Corporations”), filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United
States Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Colorado. The Debtor Corporations were in possession of their respective 
properties and assets and operated as debtors in possession pursuant to provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. The cases were dismissed on December 23, 1998. 
Refer to Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
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Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Market Information:

The following table shows the range of sales prices for the
Company’s common stock, par value $2.50 per share (the
“Common Stock”), and depositary shares, each representing
one quarter of a share of the Company’s Series A Convertible
Exchangeable Preferred Stock, $1.00 par value per preferred
share (the “Depositary Shares”). The stock traded on the
New York Stock Exchange prior to the Company’s filing for
protection under Chapter 11.

Public trading for the Common Stock and the Depositary
Shares resumed in February 1997, via the Over-the-Counter
Bulletin Board, and quarterly bid prices are shown below as
reported by the National Association of Securities Dealers
Composite Feed or other qualified interdealer medium. Over-
the-counter market quotations reflect inter-dealer prices,
without retail mark-up, mark-down, or commission and may
not necessarily represent actual transactions.

The Common Stock and Depositary Shares were listed for
trading on the American Stock Exchange (“AMEX”) on April
12, 1999 and sales prices stated after that date were as
reported by the AMEX.

Sales Prices

Common Stock Depositary Shares

High Low High Low

1999
First Quarter 43⁄4 31⁄2 181⁄2 161⁄4
Second Quarter 41⁄2 25⁄8 203⁄8 161⁄8
Third Quarter 33⁄4 23⁄4 191⁄4 181⁄8
Fourth Quarter 37⁄8 211⁄16 185⁄8 155⁄8

2000
First Quarter 41⁄16 23⁄4 16 147⁄8
Second Quarter 37⁄8 25⁄8 18 141⁄2
Third Quarter 51⁄2 27⁄8 22 151⁄8
Fourth Quarter 91⁄4 43⁄4 203⁄4 17

Approximate Number of Equity Security Holders:

Number of Holders of Record
Title of Class (as of March 1, 2001)

Common Stock ($2.50 par value) 1,630
Depositary Shares, each representing 

a one-quarter share of Series A 
Convertible Exchangeable 
Preferred Stock 32

Dividends:

Preferred stock dividends at a rate of 8.5% per annum were
paid quarterly from the third quarter of 1992 through the
first quarter of 1994. The declaration and payment of pre-
ferred stock dividends was suspended in the second quarter of
1994 in connection with extension agreements with the
Company’s principal lenders. Upon the expiration of these
extension agreements, the Company paid a quarterly divi-
dend on April 1, 1995 and July 1, 1995. Pursuant to the
requirements of Delaware law, described below, the preferred
stock dividend was suspended in the third quarter of 1995 as
a result of recognition of losses and the subsequent share-
holders’ deficit. The quarterly dividends which are accumu-
lated but unpaid through and including January 1, 2001
amount to $11,088,000 in the aggregate ($53.13 per pre-
ferred share or $13.28 per depositary share). Common stock
dividends may not be declared until the preferred stock divi-
dends that are accumulated but unpaid are made current.

On March 10, 1999, the Company offered to purchase up to
1,052,631 depositary shares, each representing one quarter of
a share of its Series A Convertible Exchangeable Preferred
Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock”). The offer price of $19 
per share was in full satisfaction of claims to accumulated but
unpaid dividends on the depositary shares tendered. On April
7, 1999, the offer expired and 1,683,903 depositary shares
were tendered in response to the offer. Because the number of
shares tendered exceeded the maximum number of shares 
the Company had offered to purchase, a proration factor of
approximately 62.5% was applied to all shares tendered. A
total of 1,052,631 depositary shares were purchased for
$20,000,000. The balance sheet effect of this transaction 
was to reduce cash and shareholders’ equity by $20,000,000.
Following completion of the tender offer, the depositary
shares purchased in the offer were converted into shares of
Series A Preferred Stock, the shares of Series A Preferred
Stock were retired, and the capital of the Company was
reduced by the par value of the shares of Series A Preferred
Stock retired. This reduced the number of shares of Series A
Preferred Stock outstanding from 575,000 to 311,843, accu-
mulated but unpaid dividends from $21,994,000 to
$11,928,000, and the ongoing quarterly preferred dividend
requirement from $1,222,000 to $663,000.
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Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters (continued)

On September 16, 1999, the Company made a second offer
to purchase up to an additional 631,000 depositary shares at
$19 per depositary share. The offer price of $19 per share
was in full satisfaction of claims to accumulated but unpaid
dividends on the depositary shares tendered. On October 26,
1999, the offer expired and 412,536 depositary shares were
tendered in response to the offer. The balance sheet effect of
the transaction was to reduce cash and shareholders’ equity
by $7,838,000. Following completion of the tender offer, the
depositary shares purchased in the offer were converted to
shares of Series A Preferred Stock, the shares of Series A
Preferred Stock were retired, and the capital of the Company
was reduced by the par value of the shares of Series A
Preferred Stock retired. This reduced the number of shares of
Series A Preferred Stock outstanding from 311,843 to
208,708, accumulated but unpaid dividends from
$13,253,000 to $8,870,000 and the ongoing quarterly divi-
dend requirement from $663,000 to $444,000.

There are statutory restrictions limiting the payment of pre-
ferred stock dividends under Delaware law, the state in which
the Company is incorporated. Under Delaware law, the
Company is permitted to pay preferred stock dividends only:
(1) out of surplus, surplus being the amount of shareholders’
equity in excess of the par value of the Company’s two classes
of stock; or (2) in the event there is no surplus, out of net
profits for the fiscal year in which a preferred stock dividend
is declared (and/or out of net profits from the preceding fiscal
year), but only to the extent that shareholders’ equity exceeds
the par value of the preferred stock (which par value was
$208,708 at December 31, 2000). The Company had share-
holders’ equity at December 31, 2000 of $3,373,000 and the
par value of all outstanding shares of preferred stock and
shares of common stock aggregated $17,883,000 at
December 31, 2000.

Going forward the Company’s Board of Directors will review
the payment of quarterly preferred stock dividends, the pre-
ferred stock dividends which are in arrears, and common
stock dividends, in light of the above restrictions and consid-
eration of the shareholders’ best interests.
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Westmoreland Coal Company

Forward-Looking Statement

Certain statements in this report which are not historical facts or

information are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of

Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including, but not limited to, the

information set forth in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations. Any statements con-

tained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed

to be forward-looking statements. For example, words such as

“may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “con-

tinue,” “strategy,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,”

“intends,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-

looking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve known

and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause

the actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements of

the Company, or industry results, to be materially different from any

future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements

expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such fac-

tors include, among others, the following: general economic and busi-

ness conditions; the ability of the Company to implement its business

strategy; the Company’s access to financing; the Company’s ability 

to successfully identify new business opportunities; the Company’s

ability to achieve anticipated cost savings and profitability targets;

changes in the industry; competition; the Company’s ability to utilize

its tax net operating losses; the ability to reinvest excess cash at an

acceptable rate of return; weather conditions; the availability of

transportation; price of alternative fuels; costs of coal produced by

other countries; demand for electricity; the effect of regulatory and

legal proceedings, the announced liquidity issues for Washington

Group International and other factors discussed in Item 1 and Item 7

of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31, 2000. As a result of the foregoing and other factors, no

assurance can be given as to the future results and achievement of the

Company. Neither the Company nor any other person assumes

responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of these statements.

Mining Operations
Westmoreland Resources, Inc. (80%-owned)

Absaloka Mine
Sarpy Creek, MT

Westmoreland Mining LLC (100%-owned)

Dakota Westmoreland Corporation (100%-owned)
Beulah Mine*
Beulah, ND

Montana Westmoreland, Inc. 
(proposed name; 100%-owned)
Savage Mine*
Sidney, MT

Northwestern Resources Company (100%-owned)*
Jewett Mine
Jewett, TX

Western Energy Company (100%-owned)*
Rosebud Mine
Colstrip, MT

Independent Power Operations
Westmoreland Energy, Inc. (100%-owned)

Roanoke Valley I Project—180 MW (50%-interest)
Weldon, NC

Roanoke Valley II Project—50 MW (50%-interest)
Weldon, NC

Altavista Project—70 MW (30%-interest)
Altavista, VA (Sold March 23, 2001)

Hopewell Project—70 MW (30%-interest)
Hopewell, VA (Sold March 23, 2001)

Southampton Project—70 MW (30%-interest)
Southampton County, VA (Sold March 23, 2001)

Ft. Lupton Project—290 MW (4.49%-interest)
Ft. Lupton, CO

Ft. Drum Project—55.5 MW (1.25%-interest)
Watertown, NY

Westmoreland Power, Inc. (100%-owned)
LV-21 Project (proposed 500MW project)
Gascoyne, North Dakota

Westmoreland Technical Services, Inc. (100%-owned)
Weldon, NC

Coal Terminal and Storage
Westmoreland Terminal Company (100%-owned)

Dominion Terminal Associates (20%-interest)
Newport News, VA

Coal Sales
Westmoreland Coal Sales Company (100%-owned)

*Contingent upon closing of acquisitions.



Board of Directors and Senior Management

Board of Directors
Christopher K. Seglem (54)
Chairman, President and CEO
of Westmoreland Coal Company
Director since 1992

William R. Klaus (75)
Retired Partner of law firm of Pepper, Hamilton & Scheetz
Director since 1973

Pemberton Hutchinson (70)
Retired Chairman, President and CEO
of Westmoreland Coal Company;
Director of Mellon Financial Corporation
and Teleflex, Inc.
Director since 1977

Thomas W. Ostrander (50)
Managing Director of Salomon Smith
Barney Inc.
Director since 1995

James W. Sight (45)
Director of United Recycling Industries and 
Mining Services International Corp.
Director since 1995

Robert E. Killen (60)
Chairman, CEO and Former President of 
The Killen Group, Inc.;
Chairman of the Board of Berwyn Financial Services
Director since 1996

Thomas J. Coffey (48)
Vice President–Finance, Global Network Services, 
a division of Unisys Corporation
Director since 2000

*Michael Armstrong (50)
Retired Stockbroker
Private Investor
Director since 2000

*William M. Stern (55)
Senior Vice President, Stern Brothers & Company
Director since 2000

*Preferred shareholder directors

Transfer Agent and Registrar
EquiServe Trust, N.A.
c/o First Chicago Trust Company of New York
P.O. Box 2500
Jersey City, NJ 07303-2500
Phone: 201-324-0313

This Annual Report is dedicated to the memory of 
Gregory M. Daniels (1948–1999), in appreciation 
for his 26 years of dedicated service to Westmoreland 
Coal Company.

Corporate Management
Christopher K. Seglem (54)
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Robert J. Jaeger (52)
Senior Vice President of Finance and Treasurer

W. Michael Lepchitz (47)
Vice President, Law and Administration, 
General Counsel and Secretary

Thomas G. Durham (52)
Vice President, Coal Operations

Todd A. Myers (37)
Vice President, Marketing and Business Development

Richard C. Stone (51)
Vice President, Power Development

Diane S. Jones (42)
Vice President, Corporate Relations and Business Development

Gregory S. Woods (47)
Vice President, Eastern Operations

Paul W. Durham (46)
Vice President, Human Resources
Assistant General Counsel and Assistant Secretary

Thomas S. Barta (29)
Controller

Subsidiary Management
Robert W. Cope (49)#

President, Western Energy Company

Carroll G. Embry (58)#

President, Northwestern Resources Company

John V. O’Laughlin (50)
President, Dakota Westmoreland Corporation

David W. Simpson (54)
President, Westmoreland Resources, Inc.

Garry D. Miller (56)#

Superintendent, Savage Mine

W. Michael Lepchitz (47)
President, Westmoreland Energy, Inc.

Gregory S. Woods (47)
Executive Vice President, Westmoreland Energy, Inc.
President, Westmoreland Technical Services, Inc.

James E. Hicks (47)
Vice President, Westmoreland Technical Services, Inc.

Richard C. Stone (51)
President, Westmoreland Power, Inc.

Todd A. Myers (37)
President, Westmoreland Coal Sales Company

James M. Kelly (49)#

Vice President, Contracts, Western Energy Company
Vice President, Contracts, Northwestern Resources Company

Edward J. Demeter (60)
President, Westmoreland Terminal Company
Vice President, Westmoreland Coal Sales Company

#Inclusion conditioned upon closing of acquisitions
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Westmoreland Coal Company
2 North Cascade Avenue
14th Floor
Colorado Springs, CO 80903
(719) 442-2600


